In a business world full of numbers, the equation for
success is not complex. Only the simplest math is
required to see the future. The leaders of the indus-
trial age had this vision and used it to transform the
world. In the information age, the formula for reap-
Ing rewards from economies of scale has not
changed—but the window of opportunity has.
Today, one company is uniquely positioned to act on
the compelling opportunity that electronic billing
and payment presents. Only one company has the
Infrastructure, distribution, content and technology
In place to take a leadership role into the millennium.

Do the math: That company is CheckFree.
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SHAREHOLDERS:

A MESSAGE FROM PETE KIGHT, CHAIRMAN & CEO

U-BIQ-UI-TOUS (ADJ.): BEING OR SEEMING
TO BE EVERYWHERE AT THE SAME TIME:
OMNIPRESENT.

Two-and-a-half years ago, CheckFree introduced an
innovation that continues to shape the financial electronic commerce landscape today: We launched
CheckFree E-Bill, the world's first fully operational electronic billing and payment solution. As you
would expect from a company inventing a new technology, we launched electronic billing and pay-
ment long before there was critical demand in the market. We faced a classic dilemma: Billers hes-
itated to commit without clear evidence that consumers were demanding the service. Consumers
did not know the service was available, or how to receive it. Owners of likely places for consumers
to receive and pay bills—such as Internet sites for banks, credit unions and brokerage firms, as well
as financial services-specific Internet portals—wanted to see evidence of both biller supply and con-
sumer demand for electronic bills before committing to offer the service. Despite these challenges,
we believed in the boundless opportunity of the Internet. We had done the math, and saw the num-
bers that were just over the horizon.

That was 1997. Today, the Internet is truly omnipresent—from pocket phones, to gas pumps, to free
computers and personal portals. The numbers that were once just a vision over the horizon today are
appearing in industry research reports and in the record of our Company's performance.
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At the close of our fiscal year 1998, while hundreds of financial institutions offered our services,
only four offered them over the Internet. At the close of this year, 34 did—including banks, credit
unions, brokerage firms and Internet portals. In our 1998 annual report, | suggested that billers would
move from a gating factor to an accelerating factor in the industry. By the close of our fiscal year 1999,
we had signed contracts with two-and-one-half times as many billers as we had the previous year,
adding 43 new biller contracts to reach a total of 64. Twenty-nine of these are already enabling con-
sumers to receive and pay their bills over the Internet.

We have added these billers to our roster strategically, targeting industries that will help us reach
our goal of delivering at least four bills to consumers in each of the top 65 Standard Metropolitan
Statistical Areas (SMSAs) in the United States. By the close of this year, we had won contracts that
enable us to manage the electronic delivery and payment of a significant number of the total bills dis-
tributed in each of the industries we have targeted. These include: 70 percent of all bills for major
telecommunications firms, 28 percent of bills for leading credit card companies, 24 percent of bills for
targeted utilities, 22 percent of bills from top mortgage servicers, 17 percent of bills from targeted cell-
ular companies and nine percent of bills for targeted cable companies.

As we continue to land contracts with strategic billers that bring us closer to our goal, we think
this is math our competitors will have a hard time surpassing.

There is no doubt that competition in the electronic billing and payment market is escalating. From
January to July of 1999 alone, 58 different companies issued more than 100 press releases with the
words “electronic billing and payment” in them. To us, this is a clear sign of a market on the move. We
remain confident in our ability to lead the market in the face of heightened competition because our
18 years in financial electronic commerce has taught us that it takes more than technology and press
releases to succeed. Leadership in electronic billing and payment demands strategic achievement in
four key areas:

> Unmatched service quality delivered through a substantial, scalable infrastructure, and backed by
real customer service people who know the business

> Distribution that reaches customers wherever they are

> Content that includes all major bills

> Technology that makes bill payment easy to use



4 YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW

(6 months ended June 30) (year ended June 30)

1996 1997 1998 1999
Statement of Operations Data
Total revenues $ 51,040 $ 176,445 $ 233,864 $ 250,131
Net income (loss) $ (138,567) $ (161,813) $ (3,703 $ 10,457
Net income (loss) per share, diluted $ (3.70) $ (3.44) $ (0.07) $ 18
Balance Sheet Data
Working capital $ 45,49 $ 20,002 $ 78,238 $ 24,245
Total assets $ 196,230 $ 223,836 $ 250,112 $ 252,761
Total stockholders’ equity $ 137,675 $ 148,644 $ 183,854 $ 186,903
Net book value per share outstanding $ 3.32 $ 2.73 $ 3.32 $ 3.62

(dollars in thousands, except per-share data)

CheckFree enjoys a unique, leadership position in each of these areas. We plan to continue to lever-
age our unigque combination of experience, technology and relationships to make electronic billing and
payment a simple, everyday experience for the vast majority of consumers.

Last year we processed more than 125 million transactions for nearly three million subscribers. We
continue to have the only end-to-end electronic billing and payment solution—operated on a single
integrated platform for auditing, tracking and customer care—that enables consumers to pay every-
one, everywhere. Our Direct Distribution Model for electronic billing and payment has been cited by
industry analysts as leading the market by as much as 18 months.

As the math continues to improve for our Company, we believe it is becoming increasingly difficult
for others to match our broad capacity to route, track, secure and support financial electronic com-
merce transactions on the Internet. When you add up all of the key metrics—subscribers, billers, dis-
tribution partners and processing infrastructure technology —CheckFree has the clear advantage.

We are committed to extending that advantage by steadily driving the market's development. The
potential in our pipeline today—new billers, new distribution channels and new technology —promises
to deliver everimproving economies of scale. To continue the momentum, we are investing in four key
initiatives that will accelerate market acceptance:

> First, we will be offering marketing and pricing incentives to stimulate demand from Internet consumers.

> Second, we will invest in the implementation resources needed to help billers bring their billing-
content to consumers over the Internet.

> Third, we will add additional infrastructure to support subscriber growth from new distribution
channels, including the massive potential base of Internet portal subscribers. This includes a new
100,000-square foot operations center near Phoenix, a similar new building on our headquarters
campus just outside of Atlanta, Georgia, and an additional data center in our existing facility in
Dublin, Ohio.

> Lastly, we will be investing in new technology that expands our electronic commerce product offer-
ing beyond consumer payments related to bills. This includes opportunities in business-to-business
and person-to-person electronic payments.
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While last year we extended our leadership in our electonic commerce business—which accounted
for close to 70 percent of our revenue—our other business units, Investment Services and Software
Services, also extended their leadership positions in their respective markets.

Our Investment Services division closed the year with more than 700,000 portfolios under man-
agement, representing 48 percent growth over the prior year. To enable us to significantly broaden the
products and services we offer to our traditional customer base of institutional money managers, as
well as to expand our reach into the growing financial planner market, we acquired Mobius Group.
Because Mabius Group has built a leadership position in money manager databases and financial plan-
ning software, this acquisition immediately broadens the range of services that CheckFree can pro-
vide brokers, investment consultants and asset managers. Financial institutions offering managed
account products can now go to one source for all of their analysis, oversight and reporting needs.

Our Software Services division continued to extend its already prominent leadership position in
the reconciliation and compliance market by signing 75 additional contracts, bringing the total to more
than 620 financial services institutions, commercial businesses and state governments using these
products and services. Our Automated Clearinghouse (ACH) software business already has a very
strong position in a fairly mature market. Yet, we drove new revenue by providing additional software
modules and services to existing customers, as well as by offering a new service line that enables
customers to contract with CheckFree for systems management on their sites. CheckFree Financial
and Compliance Solutions also continued to expand its opportunities by developing a broader product
suite, the CheckFree Solution Series, as well as a state-sponsored service that helps consumers use
the Internet to find unclaimed property belonging to them.

The financial services landscape has undergone a profound change in recent years. In nearly every
respect, we see the traditional roles of banks, brokerages, mortgage servicers, insurance companies
and others being redefined as consumers become empowered through technology. In many areas,
CheckFree's leadership role in financial electronic commerce has been instrumental in laying the
groundwork for progress.

As the market for our core business—electronic billing and payment—continues to develop, the
roles of the various players will clarify. Banking and Internet distribution will converge, as will bank
account and investment account management. Aggressive financial services companies are planning
to change the way consumers access and manage their money. Ultimately, consumer preference will



dictate the shape of the industry. Whatever those preferences turn out to be, CheckFree will be able
to provide the secure, high-quality transactions consumers demand.

Moving forward, partner relationships will be critical, yet complex. Already, some of the same partners
with whom we cooperate in some areas, compete with us in others. We believe open systems that
enhance the consumer experience will have a role, and our commitment is to interoperate with open
technology that helps entice consumers to receive and pay bills over the Internet. In this way, we will
be able to deliver as many bills as possible, to as many access points as possible, and to manage their
receipt and payment for as many consumers as possible. Our partners and competitors share a com-
mon goal that benefits us all when it is achieved: enticing a critical mass of people to receive and pay
bills over the Internet.

The strides we make in the next 12 to 18 months will outstrip the progress that previously took us
two-and-one-half years to accomplish. In that time, critical mass will have arrived. Consumers in lead-
ing metropolitan areas will be able to receive, on average, four major bills electronically—mortgage,
credit card, utility and telecommunications—at the distribution point of their choice. By 2002, the num-
ber of electronic bills available to each consumer will double to eight. And, as they already can today
with CheckFree, consumers will be able to pay everyone, everywhere, with the click of the mouse.

Today, ubiquitous describes e-mail. Soon it will describe electronic billing and payment. We invite you,
as our valued shareholder, to “Do the Math.”

Sincerely,

.-'"If-. -
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PETE KIGHT
Chairman and CEQ
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SHAREHOLDERS:

A MESSAGE FROM PETE SINISGALLI, CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER

There is a telling quote attributed to J.S. Bach that plays
true to CheckFree's leadership position in financial electronic commerce: “Playing the piano is easy.
It's just @ matter of hitting the right keys at the right time.”

Success in many endeavors often boils down to getting the details right. It is certainly true that a
diligent commitment to mastering the details over the past 18 years has led to CheckFree’s current
market strength. As we enter into 2000, one thing is eminently clear: we have achieved leadership
today—and can continue to extend it—by maintaining our unerring adherence to flawlessly execut-
ing the details. Our goal is to handle the details so well that, like Bach playing the piano, we make
it look easy.

In electronic billing and payment, this means getting the right bill to the right consumer at the right
time at the right access point. It also means debiting the right consumer bank account at the right
time, crediting the right consumer account at the right merchant, and providing that merchant with
remittance instructions in the merchant'’s preferred format. It involves tracking and auditing each step
along the way, and providing status information to the consumer, the bank, and the merchant, so that
each can answer any question about the progress of any transaction. It requires monitoring and con-
tinuously improving a myriad of metrics that enable superior system availability and performance, so
that consumers find receiving and paying their bills over the Internet enjoyable and easy. It also means
providing exceptional customer care services for those rare times when they do not.

In our Investment Services division, hitting the right keys at the right time involves meticulous
attention to managing data, processing systems, and services that work collectively to automate port-
folio management services and enable our customers to deliver impeccable service and information
to their customers. In our Software division, it means continuing to extend our significant market lead
in the Automated Clearinghouse, reconciliation and compliance software segments by providing
options such as ACH insourcing, launching new reconciliation products that broaden our already robust
feature set, and establishing the first multi-state service that enables consumers to track unclaimed
property via the Internet at www.MissingMoney.net.

Execution is the focus for each of our divisions in 2000. In our electronic commerce division, we
reached a milestone this year that significantly enhances our ability to continue to execute in 2000 at



the highest quality, most efficient level in the electronic billing and payment industry. That water-
shed achievement was the migration of most of our core electronic billing and payment process-
ing—representing support for more than two million subscribers—to our Genesis platform four
months ahead of schedule. With an architecture engineered to support transactions from 30 million
households, Genesis represents the most comprehensive, highest capacity electronic billing and
payment processing system in the United States.

When we do the math, superior quality execution on Genesis equates to an industry measure
called 4.6 (read 4.6 Sigma). Sigma is a measure of quality typically used by manufacturing firms to
minimize defects. For CheckFree, key metrics we plan to hold to this 4.6 standard are system avail-
ability and payment timeliness. By way of comparison, 4.6 3 represents 99.9 percent performance, and
is the measure the telecommunications industry uses to deliver “dial-tone” quality, or the reliability we
all expect from our telephone systems. Systems performing at 4.6y have less than ten minutes down-
time per week.

Today, Genesis performs at about 4.0y, which is around 99 percent performance. Reaching 4.6
is one of eight strategic goals we have outlined for CheckFree in the coming year, and we have devel-
oped internal programs that include compensation tied to goal achievement to foster our success in
attaining it.

Achieving these eight goals adds up to an extension of our already significant lead in the electronic
billing and payment market. They are focused on variables we have learned—through 18 years in the
business—are necessary for success. Together, they tell a powerful story about our commitment to
continuing to drive growth in electronic billing and payment while we extend the value we deliver to
billers, subscribers and distribution points. They are as follows:

> Improve Genesis performance to 4.6

> Meet or exceed all Service Level Agreements, which define our commitments to customers on
system availability, payment error rates, claims resolution and file transmission parameters

> Grow subscribers to approach five million, up from nearly three million
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> Sign an additional 55 billers to CheckFree E-Bill, so that about 120 billers are committed to using
our services

> Increase the number of billers in production with CheckFree E-Bill to 90, which would position
CheckFree to be able to deliver an average of four bills to most consumers

> Extend our lead in electronic billing and payment by developing innovative new products that lever-
age our infrastructure, so that we can continue to improve our economies of scale

> Drive unit transaction cost down by 10 percent or more, a goal we also achieved this year for core items
> Achieve all objectives while delivering on our Earnings Per Share target for the year

These eight objectives are quite challenging, but my confidence in achieving them is high. We have a
very strong, experienced and committed team of associates at CheckFree that have delivered on chal-
lenging objectives in the past. | know we can count on them to deliver again in 2000.

The math in our business is simple: Execute more transactions, for more subscribers, at a fair price
and lower per unit cost than any other competitor, and market leadership will follow. This year, the

math added up in our favor. In 2000, we plan to achieve the same.

Sincerely,

PETE SINISGALLI
President and Chief Operating Officer



1. QUALITY

IN THEORY THERE IS NO DIFFERENCE
BETWEEN THEORY AND PRACTICE.
BUT IN PRACTICE THERE IS.

Jan L.A. Van de Snepscheut, “What Computing is All About.”

At the end of the day—after all the press
releases have been written, software versions released and corporate strate-
gies announced—the consumer cares about just one thing: “Can | pay all my
bills—safely, securely and easily—from my place of choice?”

This is not an unreasonable demand. But as the industry has come to realize,
this simple request carries vast implications in terms of transaction quality, distri-
bution reach, biller content and user technology. And, number one on this list is,
of course, quality.

Even though electronic billing and payment is inherently more efficient and
reliable than paper and postage, consumers will withhold confidence in any new
transaction technology until it is proven to their satisfaction. Web trading, online
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shopping—even ATMs—faced initial resistance until consumers felt their money
was secure.

CheckFree is committed to delivering “dial-tone quality” in its transaction
processing—reliability consumers expect, backed by 24 x 7 x 365 customer care.
Dial-tone quality opens the door to everyday usage by everyday people, not just
“early adopters” and techno-savvy Web users. This level of consistent reliability
can be measured scientifically as 4.6 5. With 18 years of financial transaction
processing experience, CheckFree is close to delivering bills and processing pay-
ments at this measure, while our competitors have not yet even developed sys-
tems to track and report it. It is a level of quality that comes from continuous
innovation and development, plus patented processes built on a solid foundation
of proven experience.

CheckFree's commitment to quality comes from being a financial services
company at heart. Technology companies in new fields have been known to tol-
erate errors in performance. A financial services company has no such luxury; its
customers expect their money to be managed correctly. That expectation drives
the core CheckFree commitment to flawless service.

Last year, CheckFree processed more than 125 million transactions—-currently
more than 12 million transactions per month and growing. The percentage of bill
payments that were remitted electronically rose from 47 percent to nearly 50
percent in the final quarter. This bit of math is significant because electronic
remittance delivers a five-fold improvement in transaction quality. Electronic con-
nections deliver lower costs, lower claims rates and higher efficiency. Best of all,
customers are more satisfied.



REVENUE GROWTH BY BUSINESS CORPORATE REVENUE GROWTH

(in millions)

Software J 6% 1995 [ 493

Electronic C ce 7 23% 1996 1768

Investment Services 1 26% 1997 [ 176.4
1998 [J 2338
1999 [ 250

To date, CheckFree has established direct electronic connections with over 1,100
leading merchants —telecommunications firms, utilities, oil companies, retailers,
financial services companies and more. CheckFree delivers more electronic remit-
tance volume for Electronic Billing and Payment than all our competitors combined.

The foundation for CheckFree's dial-tone transaction quality is its unmatched pro-
cessing infrastructure. This year, CheckFree completed its conversion of more
than 300 financial institutions from legacy processing platforms to its Genesis
platform. This state-of-the-art processing system brings enhanced functionality,
increased capacity and improved customer care to our core business. Genesis
provides a highly redundant, scalable and secure processing infrastructure with
24 x 7 x 365 operation and complete disaster recovery redundancy and protection.
Genesis is built to support transactions from 30 million households, enabling sig-
nificant future growth.

The successful migration of core processing to Genesis is one of the most
important achievements in CheckFree’s history. Consolidation of subscribers to a
single platform for end-to-end integrated electronic billing and payment, as well as
remittance and customer care, allows CheckFree to streamline processing and
costs. It also delivers more efficient and effective consolidated payments, improve-
ments in electronic delivery rates and reduced customer inquiries.

The Genesis migration was achieved four months ahead of schedule, and
allows the Company to focus development and quality initiatives on a single plat-
form moving forward. These efforts include improving quality, extending function-
ality and reducing unit transaction costs.



1 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 28 30
3 5 7 9 " 13 15 17 19 21 23 25 21 29

INVESTMENT SERVICES PORTFOLIO GROWTH
(in thousands)

1996 0 261

1997 00 349

1998 ] 500

1999 0 700

CheckFree's unmatched infrastructure and industry-leading service quality is
backed by the CheckFree Guarantee, a consumer safeguard program designed to
heighten consumer confidence in receiving and paying bills online. The CheckFree
Guarantee protects consumers against unauthorized transactions and processing
delays. More importantly, the CheckFree Guarantee will instill consumer confi-
dence, since they will know their transactions are being managed by the industry
leader for quality financial processing.



2. DISTRIBUTION

THE COST FOR BILLERS TO PRINT, PROCESS AND
DISTRIBUTE PAPER-BASED BILLS RANGES FROM

85 CENTS TO $1.50 EACH. THE COST OF SENDING
AND RECEIVING AN ELECTRONIC BILL, BY COMPAR-
ISON, IS ABOUT 40 CENTS EACH, PER ROUND TRIP.

Compiled from reports by The Gartner Group, Jupiter Communications and Killen & Associates

With 70 million consumers estimated to be
online by the end of 1999, where will they go for electronic billing and payment?
Will they choose the assurance of a traditional bank or credit union—or the online
convenience of an Internet-only bank like WingspanBank.com? Will they prefer a
consolidated financial picture at an online brokerage—or the assembling of elec-
tronic billing and payment with a range of content from the Internet universe at one
destination site, such as Yahoo! or AOL? Will they want to pay bills directly at the
biller's Web site, or at an Internet financial services portal such as Quicken.com?

The answer could be all of the above. Some consumers are comfortable with
banks, others with billers, brokerages or portals. Ultimately, the evolution of these
services will be driven by users, not providers. For this reason, CheckFree has
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built a distribution system for billing and payment designed to adapt to probable
consumer expectations.

Today, the online landscape for financial services is rapidly shifting. New banks
are forming without bricks and mortar. Conventional financial institutions are cre-
ating Internet-only brands designed to attract Web-savvy consumers. New
alliances between banks and portals—such as Bank One and Excite and Bank of
America and Yahoo! —are all designed to connect with customers where they
want to be. In fact, online banking is the fastest growing banking channel—even
outpacing ATM growth.

CheckFree is uniquely positioned to take advantage of all of these opportuni-
ties. The systems and relationships are in place today to distribute bills anywhere
consumers want to go. As the industry’s distribution leader, CheckFree serves:

> Leading banks, including 34 up-and-running with electronic billing and pay-
ment (more than 350 financial institutions offer electronic bill payment
through direct relationships with CheckFree, while thousands more do
through relationships with CheckFree partners like EDS, Equifax, FiServ
and others)

> Credit unions, including four of the nation’s five largest

> Major brokerages, including Merrill Lynch & Co., Charles Schwab, Morgan
Stanley Dean Witter and Prudential Securities

> Internet portals (or destination sites), including Yahoo! Finance and Quicken.com
> Personal financial management software, including Quicken ‘98 and '99

> Biller sites for a number of leading corporations



Do the math >

PC BANKING TO DOUBLE: 10 MILLION “HALF A BILLION SERVED": EXISTING
HOUSEHOLDS WILL BE BANKING ONLINE CUSTOMERS OF CHECKFREE'S CURRENTLY
BY 2001, TWO TIMES THE 4.8 MILLION PC SIGNED BILLERS REPRESENT POTENTIAL
BANKING USERS TODAY, ACCORDING TO DISTRIBUTION OF ABOUT 500 MILLION BILLS.

A RECENT CONSUMER STUDY BY INTECO.

Taken all together, more than 100 million consumers have access to CheckFree's
electronic billing and payment through financial institution and Internet portal rela-
tionships. The potential already exists for distribution of 500 million bills, based on
the customer base of CheckFree's signed billers.

Internet portals are the destination sites of choice for millions of Web users,
and represent a new distribution channel through which CheckFree can offer elec-
tronic billing and payment. Users can design personalized screens that enable
them to see their bills immediately when they log onto the Web. The growth of
broadband Internet services like DSL and cable will make access to bills even more
immediate. Bill delivery to the desktop will be no more than a single click away.

In 1999, CheckFree signed two significant portal agreements: Quicken.com
and Yahoo! Finance. Intuit plans to leverage its market-leading personal financial
management software brand, Quicken, to drive traffic to Quicken.com, a com-
pelling brand extension. Yahoo! Finance will use electronic billing and payment to
draw traffic from Yahoo!'s 65 million registered users, and to attract new sub-
scribers. Other portals will soon be offering financial transaction capabilities via
banking partners using CheckFree's electronic billing and payment services,
including a partnership between Excite and Bank One.

CheckFree already leads the industry in distribution sites, including nine of the
top 10 and 23 of the top 25 banks in the nation. In 1999, distribution continued to
expand as the Company signed 25 new financial institutions, 60 percent of which
were large credit unions, including Navy Federal with 1.8 million members.

CheckFree is also expanding distribution through reseller agreements.
Strategic relationships with companies like Equifax, Electronic Data Systems,
billserve.com, International Billing Systems and FiServ are helping CheckFree to
extend its market reach.
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CheckFree expects subscriber growth from its existing channels to approach
30 percent—from three million to nearly four million—by fiscal yearend 2000.
The Company also is planning to take a bold approach to attract new sub-
scribers—through marketing and price incentives offered in conjunction with
CheckFree's distribution partners. These new initiatives, plus new portal distri-
bution channels, could boost total subscribers to approach five million by fiscal
yearend.

The distribution is in place and the infrastructure is complete. It doesn't take much
math to recognize the potential in the pipeline.



3. CONTENT

U.S. BUSINESSES SEND OR RECEIVE
SOME 26 BILLION BILLS, ACCOUNT
STATEMENTS AND PAYMENTS ANNUAL-
LY. AND THEY PAY SOME $17 BILLION IN
POSTAGE ALONE.

U.S. Postal Service

The maxim of the Internet is “Content is king.”
In electronic billing and payment, the content is billing information.

CheckFree research shows consumer acceptance of electronic billing and
payment accelerates when—in addition to being able to “pay everyone” —four
electronic bills can be received and paid from the consumer’s place of choice.
Typically, these include phone, credit card, mortgage, cable and utility bills. Over
the past year, CheckFree has enjoyed significant biller growth in each of these
industry sectors.
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TeLecommunicaTions: CheckFree began the year in a position to manage dis-
tribution and payment of 56 percent of major telecommunications bills and
ended the year at 70 percent. Major telecommunications billers that have con-
tracted with CheckFree include: AT&T, MCIl WorldCom, BellSouth and GTE.

crepIT carps: CheckFree's ability to manage the distribution and payment of
bills from leading credit card companies doubled during the year, from 14
percent to 28 percent. Major billers include Chase Credit Card and Total
System Services, which processes credit card statements for approximately
140 banks.

uTiimies: The nation’s utilities are among the most motivated billers to move
to electronic billing for two reasons: deregulation that will spur competition,
and the desire to cut costs while delivering better customer service.
According to a 1999 study by Killen & Associates, U.S. utilities could save $1.2
billion in billing costs by using electronic billing and payment. CheckFree’s
extensive list of utility customers equates to the ability to manage electronic
billing and payment for 24 percent of bills generated by targeted utilities.

moRrTGAGE services: Coverage of bills from leading mortgage servicers grew
from 8 percent to 22 percent during the year. Billers include Chase Mortgage,
Countrywide Home Loans and HomeSide Lending.

ceLLuLar: Penetration among bills sent by targeted cellular companies grew
from zero to 17 percent during the year, with the signing of several region-
al leaders.



Do the math >

88% OF ALL HOUSEHOLDS INDICATED A THE NUMBER OF BILLS PRESENTED ELECTRONI-
WILLINGNESS TO PERFORM FINANCIAL CALLY IS EXPECTED TO GROW AT A COMPOUND
SERVICES TRANSACTIONS ON THE INTERNET. ANNUAL RATE OF 275 PERCENT.

The Gartner Group Piper Jaffray

> caBLE INpusTRY: During the year CheckFree signed an agreement with Cox
Communications, one of the nation's leading broadband companies with 3.8
million customers. CheckFree contracts cover the distribution and payment of
nine percent of the bills generated by targeted billers in the cable industry.

CheckFree is also bringing economical electronic billing and payment service to
billers of all sizes through relationships with billing service providers. These include:
ALLTEL Mortgage, which services 20 million mortgage loans; International Billing
Services, the largest first class mailer in the U.S., serving 65 million customers for
its clients; and billserve.com, which focuses on providing Internet billing services.

In total, CheckFree began the fiscal year with 21 biller contracts and added 43
new billers, for a total of 64 leading biller customers by yearend. Twenty-nine of
these 64 enabled their customers to receive and pay bills over the Internet as of
June 30. Another 21 were in active implementation; the rest were in planning
phases. If all goes as scheduled, CheckFree plans to have 90 billers in active pro-
duction by fiscal yearend 2000. In 1999, CheckFree's closest competitor had five
billers in production with limited distribution.

Bringing biller content to the Internet is strategic to electronic billing and
payment success. The challenge for billers, though, is not willingness; they are
enthusiastic about reducing costs and enhancing customer relationships
through Internet billing. The challenge is implementation, because some billers
do not have the technical resources internally to implement electronic billing. To
facilitate biller implementations, CheckFree established EC Solutions, a group
of professionals that will assist customers in implementing electronic billing and
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payment solutions. EC Solutions is part of the Company’s strategic investment
for the millennium to grow the electronic billing and payment market through con-
sumer incentives, biller support, new infrastructure and enhanced technology.

What is the bottom line? According to industry research firm The Tower Group,
Americans spend about two hours each month paying the 18.2 billion bills a year
sent to them. Do the math: That's two hours too many. CheckFree can cut those
hours down to minutes, today.



4 TECHNOLOGY

“THE BEST WAY TO PREDICT THE FUTURE
IS TO INVENT IT."

Alan Kay, Apple Fellow and inventor of GUI-Centric Computing
& Object-Oriented Programming

Americans have enjoyed spectacular lifestyle
advancements over the last 50 years through the explosive growth of new tech-
nology. Every sector of society—transportation, communication, education,
healthcare and entertainment—has been dramatically enhanced by technology.
Yet, most Americans still pay bills the same laborious way.

Since its inception, CheckFree has been developing financial electronic com-
merce solutions to make life easier. CheckFree's E-Bill solution was even recog-
nized by the Smithsonian Institution for its historic contribution. Today, with near
universal acceptance of the Internet as a way of life, mass adoption of electronic
billing and payment is possible. All the players in the electronic billing and payment
equation—consumers, billers and distribution points—are at the table. Each of



1 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24 26 28 30
3 5 7 9 " 13 15 17 19 21 23 25 21 29

these players has fundamental requirements. Only CheckFree has a technology
solution that meets the needs of each:

> Consumers demand convenience. Foremost is CheckFree's “pay everyone”
capability. The time-savings and convenience of electronic billing and pay-
ment are lost if some bills are paid by mouse-click and others by checkbook.
Consumers also want to receive and pay bills in one place—one they
choose. This means multiple entry points, be it the site of a bank, brokerage,
biller or portal. What's more, electronic bills need to come to a single mail-
box, just like paper bills do. Consumers also prefer to see their checkbook
and bills through a single interface, so they can see how much money is
available before they click to pay.

> Billers want control. They don’t want to relinquish the customer relationship
that they have fought so hard to win in the marketplace. The monthly bill is
one instrument that guarantees they have their customers’ attention, and they
want to control that interaction. They also don’t want to relinquish confidential
billing data—the valuable detail about customers and their purchases.

> Distribution points want to uphold their role as the financial crossroads for
the lives of their customers and users. These banks, brokerages, portals and
others want to own the destinations where consumers go for financial trans-
actions and other information.

> All the players demand quality. Everyone expects to at least match, if not
exceed, the quality delivered with paper bills and other financial institution
transactions where there is no margin for error.



Do the math »

“WE ALL KNOW THAT IN OUR PROFESSIONAL AND
PERSONAL LIVES, TIME IS THE ONLY COMMODITY
WORTH ANYTHING ANYMORE. CONSUMERS WILL
PAY YOU TO SAVE THEM TIME. THE INTERNET
SAVES PEOPLE TIME. IT'S A HYPERCONVENIENT
MEDIUM. COMPANIES THAT EXPLICITLY SAVE
PEOPLE TIME ARE GOING TO MAKE MONEY.”

Scott Reamer, Director of Internet Research,
SG Cowen (as quoted in Fast Company magazine)

CheckFree has met this challenge with an embracing vision that meets the needs
of all the participants in the electronic billing and payment market. This vision is
manifested in a model called Direct Distribution. Other electronic billing and pay-
ment models either disintermediate the biller by consolidating billing detail
through a central hub, or inconvenience consumers by requiring them to travel
from biller site to biller site to view and pay bills. CheckFree's Direct Distribution
approach allows the biller and the customer to interact directly, yet enables the
consumers to receive and pay all of their bills at a single site they select. Direct
Distribution sets a new standard for biller control, customer interaction and trans-

AMERICANS WRITE NEARLY 68 BILLION
CHECKS ANNUALLY—AND SPEND ABOUT
2 HOURS A MONTH PAYING MORE THAN
18 BILLION PAPER BILLS EACH YEAR.

The Tower Group

action quality in the electronic billing and payment industry:

BiLLer conTroL: CheckFree allows the biller to control the relationship with
the customer. Through the use of “customer magnets,” the biller can embed
targeted messages that display in interactive windows in the bill. Billers can
tag customers for specific promotions and increase brand equity. Billers con-
trol the detail; distribution points display summary totals. For consumers, it is
a seamless presentation. For billers, it is guaranteed one-on-one interaction
with their customers.

CUSTOMER INTERACTION: Dynamic summaries allow the customer to respond
interactively to pricing promotions, special offers and adjustments. This abili-
ty for real-time updates lets the customer see the impact on the bill total
immediately in the onscreen bill, and in the summary at the distribution site.

TrANsAcTION auaLiTy: CheckFree's complete tracking capability audits more
than a dozen events in the life cycle of a bill—when it was published, viewed,
paid, remitted and more. The system maintains an audit trail that facilitates
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customer service—even customer self-care over the Internet. Most impor-
tantly, CheckFree has a multi-level security system to maintain the integrity of
pointers to the billing detail, to secure the hand-off between biller and distri-
bution point, and to certify the customer's, bank’s and biller's relationship to
each bill.

While it takes technology to build these capabilities, ultimately it is CheckFree's
years of financial industry experience that have allowed it to develop this Direct
Distribution model—a global solution that is as much as 18 months ahead of com-
petitors. What's more, CheckFree has designed a modular, flexible and standards-
based system that can interoperate with other open, standards-based systems.

CheckFree is using its financial transaction technology to deliver other finan-
cial electronic commerce services. Among these is Account Balance Transfer, a
service that enables credit card companies to move balances to new accounts
at a consumer’s request, and Direct Collect, a powerful collection tool for imme-
diate consumer authorization and payment of past-due bills. New product
ideas—such as enabling consumers to use the Internet to make payments not
related to bills—will leverage CheckFree's existing infrastructure.

Money makes the world go round: This is the simplest math of all. CheckFree is
committed to developing real-world solutions that empower businesses, finan-
cial institutions and everyday people to move their money where, when and how
they choose.



Investment Services Division

For investment management firms, keeping pace with technology comes with a big cost—technical staff,
hardware obsolescence and operational overhead. CheckFree's Investment Services division offers service-
bureau portfolio reporting solutions for professional money managers, broker dealers and financial advisors
that let them concentrate on what they do best—managing investments—while CheckFree takes care of the

portfolio accounting.

The Division offers automated portfolio management services to two key markets:

> The institutional money management and investment advisory industries, which use CheckFree APL to

more effectively leverage their trading, back office operations and portfolio analysis; and

> Managers and administrators of wrap programs who use CheckFree's APL WRAP for customized portfolio
accounting, modeling and reporting.

This year, CheckFree Investment Services reached an important milestone—the servicing of more than
700,000 portfolios on CheckFree APL and APL WRAP This mark represents continued double-digit growth in
terms of the number of portfolios being added to the system. Since January 1998, the number of portfolios
on APL and APL WRAP increased by 75 percent, and the value of assets represented by those portfolios
increased by 60 percent—to more than $400 billion. CheckFree’s APL solutions are privately branded by the
client and are now used by more than 2560 money management institutions.

Earlier this year CheckFree Investment Services introduced APL Plus, a series of Windows ©-based
client/server user modules for the APL system.The APL Plus graphical interface offers desktop flexibility, easy
access to data and on-the-fly reporting with presentation quality. Importantly, this powerful enhancement
greatly simplifies learning and using the system—and quickly broadens APL's appeal to new customers.

Until recently, CheckFree's services were directed primarily to managers of institutional investment portfo-
lios and to WRAP sponsors and managers. In March 1999, CheckFree acquired Mobius Group, a leading
provider of money manager databases and financial planning software to the financial services industry. The
addition of the Mobius Group immediately broadens the range of services that CheckFree can provide bro-
kers, investment consultants and asset managers. The M-Plan financial planning system gives CheckFree
direct entry into the financial planning marketplace, a segment of the financial services industry it has not pre-
viously served. Other services include M-Watch, which provides investment oversight and reporting to the end
client, and M-Search, which helps determine the ideal investment manager candidates. Most importantly,
financial institutions offering managed account products can now use CheckFree as the single source for all of
their analysis, oversight and reporting needs.
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Software Division

AUTOMATED CLEARINGHOUSE (ACH)

CheckFree's electronic commerce leadership comes from a broad foundation in financial services technology.
At the core of many of the Company’s products and services is its Automated Clearinghouse (ACH) expertise.
The ACH is the primary method financial institutions use to move funds electronically through the Federal
Reserve banking system.

CheckFree continues to lead the market with its ACH products and services. Today, more than 80 percent
of the nation’s top 50 ACH originators use CheckFree's PEP+ software for ACH processing. Even with this
strong position, CheckFree continues to make significant strides in ACH product development and market
growth. This year, CheckFree signed agreements with three of the 10 largest ACH originators to support their
ACH processing centers.

CheckFree continues to develop new ACH markets as well. Two insurance companies were recently added
to the ACH client list—part of a growing trend as insurance providers seek charters to establish their own
financial institutions. CheckFree also extended its international leadership, which includes a presence in five
overseas countries, by winning a contract to provide software for Malaysia’s clearing and settlement system.

FINANCIAL & COMPLIANCE SOLUTIONS

Today’s global business organizations face mergers, acquisitions and accelerating competitiveness in the
marketplace. Yesterday’s monthly business cycle is now a daily cycle. Plus, online commerce is moving many
businesses to a 24x7x365 world. CheckFree's Financial & Compliance Solutions group provides enterprise-
wide solutions that help organizations manage the faster speeds and greater complexity they now encounter
across the business landscape.

CheckFree's solutions include CheckFree RECON-Plus™ forWindows © and CheckFree RECON Securities™.
These industry-leading client/server solutions help businesses and brokerages reconcile the enormous vol-
umes of complex transactions that are spread across internal systems, financial accounts and global mar-
kets. In the past year, leading companies such as Countrywide Securities Corporation, Marshall and llsley
Corporation, Morgan Guaranty Trust Company of New York, Firstar Bank N.A. and Fiduciary Trust have all
adopted CheckFree's state-of-the art reconciliation technology.

CheckFree continues to be the leading provider of compliance solutions as well, including CheckFree
APECS™, an automated system for abandoned property reporting. CheckFree closed many new sales for
APECS this year, with market leaders such as Bank of America and ABN-AMRO North America, Inc.

Moving forward, CheckFree will expand its product offering by introducing the CheckFree Solution Series.
This package of powerful tools integrates with CheckFree's existing reconciliation and compliance products to



provide workflow automation and information retrieval and storage. One of these tools, CheckFree RECON
SOLVER, streamlines the reconciliation process by providing unparalleled power to identify, manage and
resolve financial expectations. A second solution, CheckFree STORER, lets organizations archive large volumes
of reports to electronic media for later retrieval, query or review—all according to legal archive standards.
Plus, all report data can be exported to spreadsheets and is open to other systems for complete data
retrieval. This flexibility enables customer support staff to easily query customer statements and to answer
questions immediately, eliminating costly search and research.

Other recent product introductions include CheckFree FUND Xpedite, a client/server reconciliation system
for multi-site federal government departments and agencies, and MissingMoney.net, the nation'’s first official
state-sponsored Web search engine to offer the general public information on unclaimed property and to
facilitate the return of unclaimed property to rightful owners. Not only do consumers have a much easier way
to claim lost property, government agencies and companies that must process millions of property inquiries
each year can now save time and money with this streamlined Internet-based approach.

This year, CheckFree also introduced CheckFree APECS Client/Server. APECS Client/Server builds on the
current APECS mainframe system to bring organizations automated and streamlined abandoned property
reporting, as well as full compliance with new and changing regulations. The solution will help organizations
comply with the different requirements of each state while delivering significant time and cost savings.
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CHECKFREE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Our selected consolidated financial data as of and for the fiscal years ended June 30, 1997, 1998 and 1999 have
been derived from our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report, which have
been audited by Deloitte and Touche, LLP, independent auditors, whose report thereon is also included
elsewhere in this Annual Report. Our selected consolidated financial data as of and for the six months ended
June 30, 1996 and the years ended December 31, 1994 and 1995 have been derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements which are not included in this Annual Report. Our selected consolidated
financial data for the six-months ended June 30, 1995 and the twelve months ended June 30, 1996 are derived
from unaudited consolidated financial statements, which, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments
necessary for a fair representation of the respective periods. The selected consolidated financial data set forth
below should be read in conjunction with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations and the Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes thereto elsewhere in this Annual
Report. The earnings per share amounts prior to fiscal year 1998 have been restated to comply with Statement
of Financial Accounting Standards 128 “Earnings per Share” (SFAS 128) as required. For further discussion of
earnings per share and the impact of SFAS 128, see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Twelve
Months
Year Ended Ended Six Months Ended
December 31, June 30, June 30, Year Ended June 30,
1994 1995 1996 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999
Statement of Operations:
Revenues:
Processing, servicing and
merchant discount .................... $38,282 $49330 $ 59053  $23581 $ 33305  $104,522 $159,255 $201,059
Licensefees .............ccoiiiiiiii. - - 10,970 - 10,970 33,088 28,952 15,975
Maintenancefees ....................... - - 1978 - 1978 22,567 25,848 17,746
Other ..o 984 - 4,788 - 4,781 16,268 19,809 15,351
Total revenues ................... 39,266 49,330 76,789 23,581 51,040 176,445 233,864 250,131
Expenses
Cost of processing, servicing and
SUPPOIt oot 24,212 30,258 51,236 14,461 35,438 102,721 129,924 146,704
Research and development .............. 4,724 6,876 13,765 3,019 9,907 32,869 36,265 21,085
Sales and marketing .................... 4,427 7242 21,349 3,060 17,167 32,670 28,839 32,354
General and administrative ............... 2,598 4134 9,598 1915 7338 18,707 20,677 31,466
Depreciation and amortization ............ 1922 2,485 8,246 1194 6,997 24,919 24,999 24,630
In-process research and development. ... .. - - 122,358 - 122,358 140,000 79 2,201
Charge for stock warrants ............... - - - - - - 32,821 -
Exclusivity amortization ................. - - - - - 5,958 2,963 -
Total expenses ................... 37,883 50,995 226,552 23,649 199,205 357844 277213 258,440
Net gain on dispositions of assets ......... - - - - - 6,250 36173 4,576
Income (loss) from operations ............ 1,383 (1665)  (149,763) (68) (148,165) (175,149) (7176) (3,733)
Interest:
Income ... 298 2135 3104 535 1,659 2153 3,464 2,799
Expense ...t (795) (645) (484) (330) (325) (834) (632) (618)
Income (loss) before income tax ........... 886 (175) (147143) 137 (146,831) (173,830) (4,344) (1,552)
Income tax expense (benefit) ............. 400 40 (8,650) 62 (8,628) (12,017) (641) (12,009)
Income (loss) before extraordinary item . ... 486 (215)  (138,493) 75 (138,203) (161,813) (3,703) 10,457
Extraordinaryitem ...................... - - (364) - (364) - - -
Netincome (loss) ..............covvnnts. § 46 § 215 §(138857) $ 75 $(138,567)  $(161,813) $ (3,703) $ 10,457
Diluted income (loss) per common share
before extraordinaryitem ................ $ 002 $ (001) $ (414 $ - $§ (369 $ (344) $ (0.07) $ 018
Diluted income (loss) per common share . ... .. $ 002 $ (001) $ (415 § - $ (3700 $ (3.44) $ (0.07) $ 018
Equivalent number of shares outstanding ..... 27103 28,219 33,435 29,299 37420 46,988 55,087 56,529
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital ........................ $11399 $81792 § 45496  $10,481 $ 45496 $ 20,002 $ 78,238 $ 24,245
Total @sSets ........oiiiiiii 30,512 115,642 196,230 31,696 196,230 223,836 250,112 252,761
Long-term obligations, less current
POrtioN ...\t 8,213 7282 8,324 7735 8,324 8,401 6,467 3,882
Total stockholder’s equity ................ 16,372 99,325 137675 16,493 137675 148,644 183,854 186,903
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CHECKFREE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FinANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW

We are the leading provider of electronic billing and payment services. Our Electronic Commerce
business provides services that allow customers to:

* Receive electronic bills through the Internet;
» Pay any bill — electronic or paper — to anyone; and

» Perform customary banking transactions, including balance inquiries, transfers between accounts and
on-line statement reconciliations.

We currently provide services for nearly three million consumers through over 350 financial institutions,
Internet financial sites like Quicken.com and personal financial management software like Quicken, Microsoft
Money and Managing Your Money. As part of our strategy to broaden availability of our electronic billing and
payment services on the Internet, we recently entered into a distribution contract with Yahoo!. Additionally, we
recently extended a processing agreement with Bank One Corporation to provide services, including electronic
billing and payment, to WingspanBank.com. We are currently in discussions with other Internet portals,
including Excite@Home, to whom we expect to begin providing our billing and payment services by December
31, 1999. We plan to undertake significant marketing initiatives with Yahoo!, WingspanBank.com and other
Internet portals to dramatically accelerate the adoption of our services by consumers. We have developed
relationships with over 1,100 merchants nationwide that enable us to remit approximately 50% of all of our bill
payments electronically. During the three-month period ended June 30, 1999, we processed an average of
more than 12 million transactions per month and, for the twelve months ended June 30, 1999 we processed
more than 125 million transactions.

In March 1997, we introduced electronic billing — “E-Bill” — which enables merchants to deliver billing as
well as marketing materials interactively to their customers over the Internet. As of June 30, 1999, we have
signed contracts for E-Bill services with 64 of the country’s largest billers, who together deliver more than 500
million bills each month. During the month of June 1999, we presented and paid more than 13,000 electronic
bills through more than 25 financial institutions and Internet portals, which is a more than 30% increase since
March 1999 and more than double the number of bills presented through E-Bill Services in February 1999.

We are also a leading provider of portfolio management and information services and financial
applications software. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 1999, Electronic Commerce accounted for 68% of
our revenues, Software accounted for 16% of our revenues, and Investment Services accounted for another
16% of our revenues.

Our current business was developed through expansion of our core electronic commerce business and
the acquisition of companies operating in similar or complimentary businesses. Our major acquisitions
include Servantis Systems Holdings, Inc. in February 1996, Security APL, Inc. in May 1996, Intuit Services
Corporation in January 1997 and Mobius Group, Inc. in March 1999.

During fiscal 1998, we made the decision to sell some of our software businesses that did not directly
promote our strategic direction. These divestitures included the sale of our recovery management business in
August 1997, our item processing business in March 1998, our wire and electronic banking businesses in April
1998, our leasing business in July 1998, our mortgage business in September 1998 and our imaging business
in October 1998. While we have no pending agreements to dispose of our remaining software businesses, we
do receive offers for them from time to time.
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REsuLTS oF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth percentages of revenue represented by certain consolidated statements
of operations data:

Year ended June 30,

1997 1998 1999
Total rEVENUES . . . . e e e e 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%
Expenses:
Cost of processing, servicing and support ................. 58.2 55.6 58.7
Research and development . ............ . ... . ... .. ... .. 18.6 15.5 8.4
Salesand marketing . ........ . 18.5 12.3 12.9
General and administrative ............ ... ... ... ... .... 10.6 8.8 12.6
Depreciation and amortization .......................... 14.1 10.7 9.8
In-process research and development .................... 79.3 0.3 0.9
Charge for stockwarrants .............................. - 14.0 -
Exclusivity amortization .. ........ ... ... . . 3.4 1.3 -
Total eXpenses ... ...t e 202.8 118.5 103.3
Net gain on dispositions ofassets ....................... 3.5 15.4 1.8
Loss from operations . .. ........ ... . (99.3) (3.1) (1.5)
Interest:
INCOME ..t e e 1.2 1.5 1.1
EXpeNse ... i (0.4) (0.3) (0.2)
Loss before incometaxes ......... ... i, (98.5) (1.9) (0.6)
Income tax benefit ...... ... ... .. ... . .. (6.8) (0.3) (4.8)
Netincome (I0SS) .. .o ittt e e (91.7)% (1.6)% 4.2%

Years Ended June 30, 1998 and 1999

Revenues. Our total reported revenue increased by $16.2 million, or 7%, from $233.9 for the year ended
June 30, 1998 to $250.1 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. This increase in revenue was due to growth
in our Electronic Commerce and Investment Services segments, offset by a decrease in our Software segment.
The decrease in our Software segment revenue was the result of our divestitures of certain of our software
businesses. We divested our recovery management business in August 1997, our item processing business in
March 1998, our wire and electronic banking businesses in April 1998, our leasing business in July 1998, our
mortgage business in September 1998 and our imaging business in October 1998.

On a pro forma basis, excluding the impact of our divested software businesses, the discontinuance of
our web investor business in our Electronic Commerce segment in June 1998, and revenue from the Mobius
Group acquisition in our Investment Services segment in March 1999, our total revenue increased 21%, from
$204.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1998 to $246.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. The increase
in our pro forma revenue from fiscal 1998 to fiscal 1999 was driven by increases of 23% in our Electronic
Commerce segment, 26% in our Investment Services segment and 6% in our Software segment. Our growth
in pro forma Electronic Commerce revenue was driven primarily by subscriber growth from approximately 2.4
million at June 30, 1998 to nearly 3.0 million at June 30, 1999. Our growth in pro forma Investment Services
revenue was driven primarily by an increase in portfolios managed from approximately 500,000 at June 30,
1998 to approximately 700,000 at June 30, 1999, offset by lower average revenue per portfolio, as marketing
efforts have shifted the mix of new business toward retail versus institutional portfolios. Although demand
has been somewhat dampened due to customer focus on Year 2000 projects, in our Software segment we had
moderate pro forma revenue growth, primarily due to increased implementations in our ACH product line.
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Our reported processing and servicing revenue increased by $41.8 million, or 26%, from $159.3 million
for the year ended June 30, 1998 to $201.1 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. On a pro forma basis,
adjusted for revenue contributed by our acquisition of Mobius Group in March 1999 and the discontinuance of
our web investor business in our Electronic Commerce segment in June 1998, revenue increased by 26% from
$158.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1998 to $199.2 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. This growth
was primarily the result of increases in our subscribers in our Electronic Commerce segment and the number
of portfolios managed in our Investment Services segment as discussed in the foregoing paragraph. In
January 1999, we announced the signing of a material Internet distribution agreement with Yahoo!. Although
there are no guarantees in the timing or extent of its success, we believe this agreement has the potential to
provide significant increases in the number of our subscribers over the next year and beyond. Due to
introductory promotional pricing incentives, we do not expect significant incremental revenue from this
channel in fiscal year 2000. Longer term, our per subscriber revenue contribution from the portal channel is
expected to be comparable to our existing financial institution channel.

Our reported license revenue declined by $13.0 million, from $29.0 million for the year ended June 30,
1998 to $16.0 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. This decline was primarily due to our divestitures of
certain of our software business previously described. On a pro forma basis, excluding the impact of the
divested software businesses, our license fee revenue declined by $1.3 million, from $17.0 million for the year
ended June 30, 1998 to $15.7 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. The pro forma decline in license fee
revenue was primarily due to softness in our software sales resulting from purchasing moratoriums imposed
by customers and potential customers focusing on their Year 2000 issues.

Our reported maintenance revenue declined by $8.1 million, from $25.8 million for the year ended June
30, 1998 to $17.7 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. On a pro forma basis, excluding the impact of our
divestitures of certain of our software businesses, previously mentioned, our maintenance fee revenue
increased by $0.7 million, from $16.1 million for the year ended June 30, 1998 to $16.8 million for the year
ended June 30, 1999. The increase in our pro forma maintenance revenue was primarily due to first year
maintenance revenue related to new software sales generated in the second half of fiscal 1998 combined with
high retention rates and moderate price increases related to renewal maintenance revenues.

Our reported other revenue, consisting mainly of consulting fees, declined by $4.4 million from $19.8
million for the year ended June 30, 1998 to $15.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. On a pro forma
basis, excluding the impact of our divested software businesses, our other revenue increased by $1.8 million,
from $12.9 million for the year ended June 30, 1998 to $14.7 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. The
increase was primarily due to implementations related to new software sales in the second half of fiscal 1998
and early fiscal 1999 and consulting projects related to implementations and client requested Year 2000
contract-based assistance in our Investment Services segment.

Cost of Processing, Servicing and Support. Our processing, servicing and support costs consist primarily
of data processing costs, customer care, technical support, third party transaction fees and consulting delivery
costs. The cost of processing, servicing and support was $129.9 million or 55.6% of total revenue for the year
ended June 30, 1998 and $146.7 million or 58.7% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 1999. Our
processing, servicing and support cost as a percentage of servicing only revenue (which includes all revenue
except license revenue) was 63.4% for the year ended June 30, 1998 and 62.7% for the year ended June 30,
1999.

Our revenue growth in our Electronic Commerce segment slowed as financial institutions have been
focusing on converting our electronic billing and payment offerings from a PC software-based to a web-based
product. Although we continued to realize cost savings as a result of our successful efforts to increase the
percentage of our bill payment transactions processed electronically versus paper, during this period, we
continued to invest in added capacity in anticipation of expected revenue growth as our customers complete
their web-based conversions and refocus their efforts on marketing these products to achieve higher
subscriber growth. While subscriber growth during the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 1999 was
approximately 6%, Internet-based subscriber growth in the same quarters exceeded 20%, which may indicate
that web-based offerings will spur consumer adoption. Additionally, we are incurring the costs of
implementing customers for electronic billing and payment for E-Bill without receiving adequate revenue to
fully offset the costs. Finally, our Yahoo! distribution agreement has resulted in an increase in our operating

F-4



expenses during the second half of fiscal 1999. These additional operating costs for professional service
programs to support timely and effective electronic billing and payment offerings by billers, investments in
hardware, software and technical staff to deliver dial-tone quality to up to one million additional subscribers
and additional customer care staff and related training, will continue into fiscal year 2000.

Research and Development. Our research and development costs consist primarily of salaries and
consulting fees paid to software engineers and business development personnel and were stated net of
capitalized software development costs. Our research and development costs were $36.3 million or 15.5% of
total revenue for the year ended June 30, 1998 and $21.1 million or 8.4% of total revenue for the year ended
June 30, 1999. The divested software businesses incurred research and development costs of $8.5 million in
the year ended June 30, 1998. Additionally, upon completion of the base Genesis Platform in late fiscal 1998
and the transition of resources from Year 2000-related projects that may not be capitalized for GAAP purposes,
we capitalized software development costs of $0.7 million for the year ended June 30, 1998 and $7.4 million in
the year ended June 30, 1999. As a result, on an absolute dollar basis and net of divested business units, our
total research and development expenditures and capitalized software development costs remained constant
at $28.5 million for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1999. We are continuing to invest significantly in
research and development in all three of our business segments in anticipation and support of expected
revenue growth, quality improvement and efficiency enhancement opportunities.

Sales and Marketing. Our sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and commissions
of sales and product marketing associates, public relations and advertising costs, customer acquisition fees,
and royalties paid to distribution partners. Our sales and marketing costs were $28.8 million or 12.3% of total
revenue for the year ended June 30, 1998 and $32.4 million or 12.9% of total revenue for the year ended June
30, 1999. Reduced sales and marketing expenses resulting from our divested software businesses have been
replaced by increased sales expenses related to activities in our electronic billing area and funding for the
creation and launch of a new trade group, the Electronic Banking Association, which is expected to increase
the general population’s awareness of, and interest in, the electronic banking industry. Additionally, during the
fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, we experienced a system error that led some users of our electronic bill payment
service to experience intermittent problems accessing and using the system. In response to this situation, we
provided service fee credits of approximately $1.9 million, over and above contractually determined penalties,
to our financial institution customers. Our sales and marketing expenses are expected to increase in fiscal 2000
upon the launch of products related to our Yahoo! distribution agreement.

General and Administrative. Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries for
administrative, executive, accounting and finance, and human resource employees. Our general and
administrative expenses were $20.7 million or 8.8% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 1998 and $31.5
million or 12.6% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 1999. During the year ended June 30, 1999 we
recognized several non-recurring charges including: $1.3 million in real estate expenses related to the sale of
a facility in Columbus, Ohio and a separate move to a new facility in Jersey City, New Jersey, $0.9 million in
charges related to an uncompleted follow-on stock offering in June 1999, $0.6 million in charges related to the
establishment of a benefits company intended to better manage future benefit expenses in anticipation of
growth in associates, and charges to third parties to support various other tax and legal related matters. The
divestiture of our various software businesses has not resulted in a corresponding reduction in existing
infrastructure since business specific systems and administrative functions must remain to support our
retained software businesses and our growing Electronic Commerce and Investment Services segments. As
anticipated revenue growth materializes, we expect general and administrative expenses to decline as a
percentage of revenue from its current level and return to levels more in line with our historical experience.

Depreciation and Amortization. Our depreciation and amortization expenses were $25.0 million for the
year ended June 30, 1998 and $24.6 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. Our divestiture of several
software businesses resulted in a significant reduction in depreciation and amortization from the
elimination of both tangible and intangible assets. @ These reductions have been offset by incremental
depreciation resulting from significant capital investments throughout fiscal 1998 and 1999 in support of the
data center migration to our Norcross, Georgia facility, the development of the Genesis project and the support
of new business initiatives such as preparation for the release of products related to our Yahoo! distribution
agreement.
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In-Process Research and Development. The in-process research and development charge of $2.2 million
incurred in fiscal 1999 resulted from our purchase of the Mobius Group in March 1999. Please refer to the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included herein for a detailed discussion of this charge. Since the
Mobius acquisition, the M-Plan Retirement and Estate Planning Module was delivered on schedule in May 1999
and the M-Search Revision, M-Vest Revision and M-Plan Cash Flow, Tax and Education modules are all
expected to be delivered as planned on the expected release dates as outlined in the footnote referred to
above. The in-process research and development charge of $0.7 million in fiscal 1998 resulted from our
acquisition of Advanced Mortgage Technology, Inc. in October 1997. The related development projects from
the AMTI acquisition continued as planned until the time the software and assets of the mortgage product line,
including these projects, were sold in September 1998.

Charge for Stock Warrants. The $32.8 million charge for stock warrants in the year ended June 30, 1998
resulted from two separate transactions. A $32.4 million charge resulted from the vesting of three million
warrants in March 1998 related to a ten year processing agreement with a strategic partner that we announced
in October 1997. A $0.4 million charge resulted from the vesting of 25,000 warrants in June of 1998 related to
a five year consulting agreement with a third party. These non-cash charges were based on a Black-Scholes
option pricing model valuation of the warrants at the date of vesting. An additional seven million warrants will
vest incrementally upon achievement of a series of certain strategic targets and each incremental vesting will
result in a future non-cash charge based on the fair market value of our warrants and common stock at the date
of vesting.

Exclusivity Amortization. The exclusivity amortization of $3.0 million in the year ended June 30, 1998 was
the final amortization related to an exclusivity arrangement we entered into with Intuit, Inc. in conjunction with
our purchase of Intuit Services Corporation in January 1997.

Net Gain on Dispositions of Assets. The net gain of $36.2 million in the year ended June 30, 1998 was
the result of several transactions. We recorded gains on the sales of our recovery management business of
$28.2 million, our item processing business of $3.2 million and our wire and electronic banking businesses of
$ 14.7 million. The gains in 1998 were offset by a loss on the sale of our leasing business of $4.7 million,
expected losses on non-cancelable contracts and related costs totaling $1.0 million resulting from the decision
to exit the web investor portion of our Electronic Commerce segment and charges totaling $4.2 million for
certain equipment and other assets related primarily to data center consolidations where we determined that
the book value of the assets exceeded their net realizable value. The net gain of $4.6 million in the year ended
June 30, 1999 was also the result of several transactions. We recorded gains on the sale of our mortgage
business of $6.4 million and the sale of a building in Columbus, Ohio of $1.1 million and offset these gains with
a loss on the sale of our imaging business of $2.9 million.

Interest. Our interest income decreased from $3.5 million for the year ended June 30, 1998 to $2.8 million
for the year ended June 30, 1999. The reduction was primarily due to a decrease in average cash and
investments from $49.3 million for the year ended June 30, 1998 to $43.3 million for the year ended June 30,
1999. Cash proceeds from the various software divestitures in fiscal 1998 and early in fiscal 1999 were
significantly offset by a share repurchase in the first and second quarters of fiscal 1999.

Our interest expense remained constant at $0.6 million for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1999. At
the end of fiscal 1999 we paid off approximately $2.5 million in debt related to the sale of our building in
Columbus, Ohio. We expect leasing activities to increase in fiscal 2000 that will more than offset interest
expense savings resulting from the debt reduction.

Income Taxes. Our effective tax rate was 14.8% for the year ended June 30, 1998 and was not meaningful
in the year ended June 30, 1999. The difference in our effective rate and our statutory rate of 35% in fiscal 1998
was primarily due to non-deductible in-process research and development expenses, non-deductible
intangible amortization and state and local taxes. In fiscal 1999, we recorded a one-time tax benefit of
approximately $12.2 million arising out of the medical benefits management subsidiary. Net of this one-
time benefit, the resulting tax expense would have been $0.2 million against a pre-tax loss of $1.6 million.
The difference between this adjusted number and the statutory rate of 35% is primarily due to non-
deductible in-process research and development expenses, non-deductible intangible amortization and state
and local taxes.
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Years Ended June 30, 1997 and 1998

Revenues. Our total revenue increased by $57.5 million, or 32.6%, from $176.4 million for the year ended
June 30, 1997 to $233.9 million for the year ended June 30, 1998. We eliminated estimated purchased profits
in deferred revenues assumed in our Servantis acquisition in February 1996 as a purchase accounting
adjustment, reducing 1997 revenue by approximately $7.8 million.

On a pro forma basis, our total revenue increased 32.3% as a result of growth of 50% in our Electronic
Commerce segment, 33% in our Investment Services segment and 6% in our Software segment. The pro
forma results are defined as prior year results excluding the elimination of purchased profits and adjusting for
our Intuit Services Corporation acquisition and divestitures of our securities business which was sold in
October 1996, our credit card processing business which was sold in March 1997, and our recovery
management business which was sold in August 1997. Our pro forma growth in our Electronic Commerce
segment was driven primarily by an increase in subscribers from approximately 1.7 million at June 30, 1997
(which number includes the Intuit Services Corporation subscribers acquired in January 1997) to
approximately 2.4 million at June 30, 1998. Our Investment Services revenue growth was primarily due to an
increase in portfolios managed from approximately 350,000 at June 30, 1997 to over 500,000 at June 30, 1998.
Growth in our Software segment was primarily the result of license and related maintenance and services
growth in the reconciliation and compliance product lines from fiscal 1997 to fiscal 1998. It should be noted
that the rate of our subscriber growth is primarily determined by the direct marketing efforts of our financial
institution clients. Historical subscriber growth, therefore, may not be indicative of future growth. For
example, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 1998, many of our financial institution clients reduced marketing efforts
to their customers to convert from a PC-based software offering to a more efficient web-based offering, which
resulted in a lower rate of subscriber growth that continued throughout fiscal 1999.

Our reported processing and servicing revenue increased from $94.5 million for the year ended June 30,
1997 to $159.3 million for the year ended June 30, 1998. On a pro forma basis, excluding the elimination of
purchased profits and the sale of our recovery management business, processing and servicing revenue
increased by 46% from $109.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1997 to $159.3 million for the year ended
June 30, 1998. This growth was due primarily to the increase in subscribers in our Electronic Commerce
segment and the increase in portfolios managed in our Investment Services segment previously discussed.

Our reported merchant discount revenue decreased from $10.0 million for the year ended June 30, 1997
to $0 for the year ended June 30, 1998 due to the sale of our credit card processing business in March 1997.

Our reported license fee revenue decreased from $33.1 million for the year ended June 30, 1997 to $29.0
for the year ended June 30, 1998. On a pro forma basis, adjusting for the sales of our securities and recovery
management businesses, license revenue increased from $26.3 million in fiscal 1997 to $29.0 million in fiscal
1998. Increases in our pro forma license revenue were driven primarily by growth in reconciliation and
compliance software sales.

Our reported maintenance revenue increased from $22.6 million for the year ended June 30, 1997 to $25.8
million for the year ended June 30, 1998. On a pro forma basis, excluding elimination of purchased profits and
adjusting for the sales of our securities and recovery management businesses, our maintenance revenue
increased from $25.2 million for the year ended June 30, 1997 to $25.8 million for the year ended June 30, 1998.
Increases from maintenance price increases of approximately 7% and first year maintenance from new license
sales were offset by customer retention rates in the mid-to-upper 80% range.
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Our reported other revenue, consisting mainly of consulting fees, increased from $16.3 million for the
year ended June 30, 1997 to $19.8 million for the year ended June 30, 1998. On a pro forma basis, excluding
the elimination of purchased profits and adjusting for the sales of our securities and recovery management
businesses, other revenue increased from $15.9 million for fiscal 1997 to $19.8 million for fiscal 1998. Year to
date increases were due to increased implementations in all of our business segments.

Cost of Processing, Servicing and Support. Our cost of processing, servicing and support was $102.7
million or 58.2% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 1997 and $129.9 million or 55.6% of total revenue
for the year ended June 30, 1998. Our cost of processing, servicing and support as a percentage of servicing
only revenue (which includes all revenue except license revenue) and net of purchased profits of $6.5 million
in the 1997 servicing only revenue, was 68.5% for the year ended June 30, 1997 and 63.4% for the year ended
June 30, 1998. The efficiency improvement from fiscal 1997 to fiscal 1998 was due primarily to the economies
of scale and leverage inherent in our business model as well as an increase in the percentage of electronic
transaction processing versus paper processing, which resulted in lower customer care and remittance costs
per transaction. For the year ended June 30, 1998, we added 10% to the rate of payments processed
electronically. Electronic transactions for Intuit Services Corporation operations alone increased from 10% at
June 1997 to 19% at June 1998.

Research and Development. Our research and development costs were $32.9 million or 18.6% of total
revenue for the year ended June 30, 1997 and $36.3 million or 15.5% of total revenue for the year ended June
30, 1998. Excluding purchased profits, research and development costs were 17.8% of total revenue for the
year ended June 30, 1997 and 15.5% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 1998. The absolute dollar
increase of $3.4 million was primarily due to additional resources supporting our platform integration efforts
referred to as project Genesis and efforts associated with Year 2000 compliance activities. There were no
software development costs capitalized for Year 2000 activities or for project Genesis in either fiscal year,
however approximately $0.7 million of software development cost was capitalized in fiscal 1998 for initial
phases of key customer care and electronic billing initiatives.

Sales and Marketing. Our sales and marketing costs were $32.7 million or 18.5% of total revenues for the
year ended June 30, 1997 and $28.8 million or 12.3% of total revenues for the year ended June 30, 1998. In
conjunction with our purchase of Intuit Services Corporation, we agreed to pay a $1.0 million per month
marketing charge to Intuit, Inc. for six months commencing in February 1997. Excluding purchased profits and
five months of Intuit, Inc. marketing charges in fiscal 1997 and one month in fiscal 1998, our sales and
marketing costs were 15.0% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 1997 and 11.9% of total revenue for
the years ended June 30, 1998. Underlying costs as a percentage of revenue has declined due to economies
of scale and leverage inherent in our business model.

General and Administrative. Our general and administrative expenses were $18.7 million or 10.6% of total
revenue for the year ended June 30, 1997 and $20.7 million or 8.8% of total revenue for the year ended June
30, 1998. Excluding purchased profits, our general and administrative expenses were 10.2% of total revenue
for the year ended June 30, 1997 and 8.8% of total revenue for the year ended June 30, 1998. Overall, our
general and administrative costs decreased as a percentage of revenue from fiscal 1997 to fiscal 1998 due to
our ability to leverage corporate support services as revenue continues to grow.

Depreciation and Amortization. Our depreciation and amortization expenses increased slightly from
$24.9 million for the year ended June 30, 1997 to $25.0 million for the year ended June 30, 1998. Amortization
declined due to the sales of our securities business in October 1996, our recovery management business in
August 1997, our item processing business in March 1998 and our wire and electronic banking businesses in
April 1998, reductions in intangible assets related to the release of a deferred tax benefit valuation allowance
in the quarter ended September 30, 1997 and a purchase price adjustment related to our Intuit Services
Corporation acquisition in the quarter ended December 31, 1997. These reductions were offset by depreciation
and amortization resulting from purchases of property, plant and equipment required for Genesis
development, data center centralization and in support of growth of the business and tangible and intangible
asset additions related to our purchase of Intuit Services Corporation in January 1997.
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In-Process Research and Development. The in-process research and development charge of $140.0
million in 1997 was related to our purchase of Intuit Services Corporation and $0.7 million in 1998 was related
to our purchase of Advanced Mortgage Technologies, Inc. Amounts allocated to in-process research and
development for each of the acquisitions were based on independent appraisals and were expensed at the
time of the related acquisition.

Charge for Stock Warrants. The $32.8 million charge for stock warrants in the year ended June 30, 1998
resulted from two separate transactions. A $32.4 million charge resulted from the vesting of three million
warrants in March 1998 related to a ten-year processing agreement that we announced in October 1997 with
a strategic partner. A $0.4 million charge resulted from the vesting of 25,000 warrants in June of 1998 related
to a five-year consulting agreement with a third party. These non-cash charges were based on a Black-Scholes
option pricing model valuation of the warrants at the date of vesting. An additional seven million warrants will
vest incrementally upon achievement of a series of certain strategic targets and each incremental vesting of
warrants will result in a future non-cash charge based on the fair market value of our warrants and our
common stock at the date of vesting.

Exclusivity Amortization. The exclusivity amortization expense in the years ended June 30, 1997 and 1998
were the result of the exclusivity arrangement we entered into with Intuit, Inc. in connection with our purchase
of Intuit Services Corporation in January 1997.

Net Gain on Dispositions of Assets. The net gain on dispositions of assets totaling $6.3 million in the year
ended June 30, 1997 resulted from the sale of the credit card business in March 1997. The gain of $36.2 million
in fiscal 1998 was the net result of several transactions. We realized gains on the sales of our recovery
management business of $28.2 million, our item processing business of $3.2 million, and electronic banking
and wire businesses of $14.7 million. These gains were offset by an anticipated loss from the pending sale of
the leasing business of $4.7 million, expected losses on non-cancelable contracts and related costs totaling $1.0
million resulting in the decision to exit the web investor portion of our Investment Services segment and
charges totaling $4.2 million for certain equipment and other assets related primarily to data center
consolidations where we determined the book value of the assets exceeded their net realizable value.

Interest. Our interest income increased by $1.3 million or 59%, from $2.2 million for the year ended June
30, 1997 to $3.5 million for the year ended June 30, 1998. This increase was the result of an increase in average
cash and investments from $39.2 million to $49.3 million combined with an increase in average yield.

Our interest expense decreased from $0.8 million for the year ended June 30, 1997 to $0.6 million for the
years ended June 30, 1998 due to lower outstanding notes payable and capital lease obligations from fiscal
1997 to fiscal 1998.

IncomeTaxes. Our effective income tax benefit was 6.9% for the year ended June 30, 1997 and 14.8% for
the year ended June 30, 1998. For both years, the difference between our effective rate and the statutory rate
of 35% was due primarily to non-deductible in-process research and development expenses, non-deductible
intangible amortization, and state and local taxes.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The following table sets forth our operating revenue and operating income by industry segment for the
periods noted. Charges identified as exclusivity amortization, in-process research and development, charge
for stock warrants, and net gain on dispositions of assets were separated from the operating results of the
segment for a better understanding of the underlying performance of each segment. Explanations of these
charges can be found in the discussions above:

Year ended June 30,
1997 1998 1999

(In thousands)

Operating Revenue:

Electronic COMMErCEe . . . v v vt e e e e e e e e e $ 85,926 $137,972 $169,443
SOftWaArE . .t e e e e e 68,113 66,143 41,384
INvesStMeENt ServiCes . .. .. v it e e e e 22,406 29,749 39,304

Total Operating Revenue .................ciiiunn.. $ 176,445 $233,864 $250,131

Operating Income (Loss):
Operating Income (Loss) Excluding Specific Items:

Electronic COMMErCe . .. oo v vt e e e e e e e e $ (20,487) $ (1,342) $ (5,490)
Software . ... e 4,324 8,393 14,637
Investment Services .. ..o it e e e 2,171 6,225 8,093
(00 o Yo - | (= (21,449) (20,116) (23,348)
Specific Items:

Exclusivity Amortization ............... ... ... .. ...... (5,958) (2,963) -
In-Process Research and Development .................. (140,000) (719) (2,201)
Charge for Stock Warrants . . . .......... ... .. - (32,827) -
Net Gain on Dispositionsof Assets . .................... 6,250 36,173 4,576

Total Operating Income (LOSS) .. .o oot $(175,149) $ (7,176) $ (3,733)

YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 1998 anD 1999

Revenue in our Electronic Commerce segment increased by 23%, or $31.4 million, from $138.0 million for
the year ended June 30, 1998, to $169.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. This increase was primarily
due to an increase in subscribers from approximately 2.4 million at June 30, 1998 to approximately 3.0 million
at June 30, 1999.

Our operating loss in our Electronic Commerce segment increased from a loss of $1.3 million for the year
ended June 30, 1998 to a loss of $5.5 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. This increase in our operating
loss was due to the temporary slowing of revenue growth caused by financial institutions converting their PC-
based systems to our new web-based platform. At the same time, we continued to invest in our payment
processing infrastructure to enhance our future quality and efficiency in anticipation of the revenue growth
expected when financial institutions complete their technology conversions and refocus their marketing efforts
on new subscriber growth. These investments include additional customer care resources geared toward
improved quality and significant E-Bill implementation costs, which were not offset by additional revenue
during the year ended June 30, 1999.

As of June 30, 1999, we had activated 29 billers for our E-Bill product offering, had an additional 21 billers
actively engaged in the implementation process and had another 14 awaiting implementation. We believe that
as we continue to activate additional billers for our electronic billing and payment product offerings, the
number of users will continue to increase, which should drive revenue and operating income growth in the
future.
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In January 1999, we announced a distribution agreement with Yahoo! designed to promote on-line
billing, payment and electronic banking to Internet users. Our planned investments related to this agreement
has placed downward pressure on margins in the second half of fiscal 1999, however, these costs will prepare
us for up to one million additional subscribers for our services. These investments have allowed us to grow
our professional services and customer care staff to support anticipated greater deployment of electronic
billing and payment services by billers, as well as expand our sales and marketing and related training
activities.

In April 1999, we experienced a system error that led some users of our electronic bill payment service to
experience intermittent problems accessing and using the system. As a result of this outage, we recorded
charges totaling $2.7 million. Net of this charge, the operating loss in our Electronic Commerce segment would
have been $2.8 million in the year ended June 30, 1999.

Revenues in our Software segment declined by $24.7 million or 37%, from $66.1 million for the year
ended June 30, 1998 to $41.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. This decline reflects the impact of the
divestiture of several of our software businesses. Excluding the effects of the divestitures, revenue in our
Software segment rose by $2.2 million or 6%, from $37.4 million in the year ended June 30, 1998 to $39.6
million for the year ended June 30, 1999. Despite this increase, our license revenue was lower than anticipated
due primarily to purchasing moratoriums imposed by potential customers who deferred new software
purchases as a result of addressing their internal Year 2000 issues. This slowdown in license sales was offset
by greater maintenance and consulting revenue resulting from prior sales of software licenses.

Operating income in our Software segment increased from $8.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1998
to $14.6 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. Excluding the effects of the divestitures, operating income
increased from $10.7 million for the year ended June 30, 1998 to $16.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1999.
Of the increase in retained business operating income of $5.7 million, $2.2 million was a result of the revenue
growth previously described and approximately $2.4 million was a reporting anomaly related to allocated
corporate fixed costs in the fiscal 1998 results. Our pro forma operating income in the year ended June 30,
1998 was carrying a full burden of allocated overhead from our Software segment to avoid unreasonably
impacting other segments on a restated pro forma basis. When the effects of allocations are ignored,
underlying operating profit margins in our Software segment remained fairly consistent from year to year.

Revenues in our Investment Services segment increased by $9.6 million, or 32%, from $29.7 million for
the year ended June 30, 1998 to $39.3 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. On March 8, 1999, we acquired
Mobius Group to augment the product line of this segment. Investment consultants and asset managers may
now use Mobius Group’s M-Vest service to determine the ideal asset allocation for their clients; use M-Search
to determine the ideal investment manager candidates; use CheckFree APL and APL wrap products to provide
investment platform and trading tools; and use either M-Watch or CheckFree APL for their investment
oversight and reporting to the end client. Excluding the effects of the acquisition, revenue increased by $7.6
million, or 26%, from $29.7 million for the year ended June 30, 1998 to $37.4 million for the years ended June
30, 1999. The increase was due primarily to an increase in the number of institutional portfolios managed from
approximately 500,000 at June 30, 1998 to approximately 715,000 at June 30, 1999, offset somewhat by an
increase in the number of retail brokerage accounts managed which carry a lower unit price.

Operating income in our Investment Services segment increased from $6.2 million for the year ended
June 30, 1998 to $8.1 million for the year ended June 30, 1999. Excluding the effects of the acquisition of
Mobius Group, operating income increased from $6.2 million for the year ended June 30, 1998 to $8.7 million
for the year ended June 30, 1999. This increase was due to the greater number of portfolios managed, offset
somewhat by costs of approximately $0.9 related to the moving of the segment’s main office in fiscal 1999.

Expenses in our Corporate segment represent charges for human resources, legal, finance and various
other unallocated overhead charges. The Corporate segment charges were $20.1 million and $23.3 million for
the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1999, respectively. The fiscal 1999 results included one-time charges of $0.6



million incurred in December 1998 for the formation of a special-purpose subsidiary created to administer our
employee medical benefits program; $0.4 million in real estate related charges incurred in the sale of a building
in Columbus, Ohio in June of 1998; and $0.9 million in charges incurred in the preparation of a follow-on stock
offering that was terminated in June 1998. Net of these one-time charges, our corporate charges remained
relatively consistent at 8.6% of total revenue in both years.

YEeArs EnNDED JUNE 30, 1997 AND 1998

Revenue in our Electronic Commerce business unit increased by $52.0 million, or 61%, from $85.9 million
for the year ended June 30, 1997 to $137.9 million for the year ended June 30, 1998. On a pro forma basis,
assuming twelve months of Intuit Services Corporation results are included in and the credit card processing
business is excluded from reported results, our revenue increased 50%. This growth was driven primarily by
growth in subscribers from approximately 1.7 million at June 30, 1997 to approximately 2.4 million at June 30,
1998.

Operating losses in our Electronic Commerce segment improved from $20.5 million for the year ended
June 30, 1997 to $1.3 million for the year ended June 30, 1998. On a pro forma basis, operating results
improved from a loss of $31.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1997 to a loss of $1.3 million for the year
ended June 30, 1998. Favorable operating results are primarily due to continued revenue growth as well as
continued efficiency improvements in remittance and customer care costs, reduction in costs from the
integration of Intuit Services Corporation and significant economies of scale and leverage inherent in the
segment’s business model. Cost improvements in customer care and remittance are primarily the result of
growth in the percentage of electronic versus paper payments, year over year. In the fourth quarter of fiscal
1998, many of our financial institution clients reduced marketing efforts toward new subscribers to allow them
time to convert from a PC based software front-end offering to a more efficient web-based offering. This
resulted in a decline in quarter over quarter subscriber growth and had a dampening effect on subscriber
growth going forward.

Revenue in our Software segment decreased from $68.1 million for the year ended June 30, 1997 to $66.1
million for the year ended June 30, 1998. On a pro forma basis, adjusting the prior year to exclude the effect
of purchased profits and to eliminate results of the divested credit management business, revenue increased
by 6% year over year. Revenue growth was primarily the result of increased license sales driven by growth in
our reconciliation and compliance products and related maintenance and services revenue generated from
new license sales in fiscal 1997 and 1998.

Operating profits in our Software segment improved from $4.3 million for the year ended June 30, 1997
to $8.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1998. On a pro forma basis, operating income increased from $5.3
million to $8.3 million for the same periods, respectively. Gains on the sale of divested businesses allowed us
to release a deferred tax benefit valuation allowance which in turn reduced goodwill and other intangible
assets resulting from our Servantis acquisition. Additionally, at the end of the third quarter of fiscal 1998, when
we announced intentions to divest software units, related intangible assets were reclassified on the balance
sheet as assets held for sale and we discontinued amortization on these assets at that time. The resulting
decrease in intangible amortization in our Software segment on a year over year basis was approximately $3.7
million, which was the primary reason for the improvement.

Revenue in our Investment Services segment increased from $22.4 million for the year ended June 30,
1997 to $29.7 million for the year ended June 30, 1998. This improvement is due primarily to an increase in
portfolios managed from approximately 350,000 at June 30, 1997 to approximately 500,000 at June 30, 1998.

Operating profits in our Investment Services segment increased from $2.2 million for the year ended June
30, 1997 to $6.2 million in the year ended June 30, 1998. Improvements in operating results were due to
revenue growth and the leverage and economies of scale inherent in the segment’s business model.



Our Corporate segment incurred expenses of $21.4 million for the year ended June 30, 1997 and $20.1
million for the year ended June 30, 1998. The improvement was due to successful efforts to assimilate the
various acquisitions and leverage the existing infrastructure in response to overall growth in the business.

YEAR 2000 READINESS

The following statements are “Year 2000 Readiness Disclosures” in conformance with the Year 2000
Information and Readiness Disclosure Act (15 U.S.C. 1) enacted on October 19, 1998.

Our goal is to ensure that all systems and products will be ready for any date-based processing related
to the millennium. The following readiness disclosure is presented for all of our business segments; Electronic
Commerce, Software and Investment Services.

State of Readiness. We are moving all of our Electronic Commerce segment processing to Year 2000-
ready environments and are making satisfactory progress to ensure that all of our systems will be ready for
any date-based functions related to the millennium. Previous implementation phases included building a Year
2000-ready data center and the physical move of the processing systems to that center. The final
implementation phase includes the migration of customers from our Chicago and Columbus systems to the
Year 2000-ready Genesis Platform followed by applicable testing on that system which will be completed by
September 30, 1999. In anticipation of limited customer migration from our Austin system to Genesis before
January 1, 2000, we have made the Austin system Year 2000 ready and testing with financial institutions is
substantially complete. Our Electronic Commerce processing systems are subject to regulation by the Office
of the Comptroller of the Currency and are required to meet their Year 2000 readiness requirements by June
30, 1999 and we are substantially complete in these requirements. All Software segment products have been
made Year 2000 ready and only minor efforts necessary to remediate internal support systems remain. Prior
to the acquisition of Mobius Group, all Investment Services customer-related processing systems had been
made Year 2000 ready and only customer testing and final remediation of internal systems at Mobius Group
remain. Final corporate initiatives require resources to complete installation of date related “patches” to
related infrastructure hardware and software applications. All remaining remediation efforts are on target to
be completed during the quarter ended September 30, 1999.

We maintain and periodically update an inventory of all information technology and non-information
technology systems. We have solicited most of our third party vendors to determine the status of their Year
2000 readiness and those functions that are likely to have a material effect on us have been identified and
assessed. We have received responses from all of our critical vendors and over half of our other vendors.
Validation is based on third party representations and/or internal testing. To date, in excess of 95% of our
mission critical applications are deemed to be Year 2000-ready. Based on a review of third party
representations, we are not currently aware of any third party issue applicable to the Year 2000 that is likely to
have a material impact on the conduct of our business, the results of our operations or our financial condition.
We have not performed our own tests on many of these third party systems and no assurances can be given
that these systems are Year 2000 ready.

Costs to Address OurYear 2000 Issues. Although the development of the Genesis Platform has taken into
account relevant Year 2000 issues, the planned conversion was not accelerated due to Year 2000 issues and
year 2000 related costs in the development of the Genesis Platform are therefore not included in our costs
below. The following chart reflects our Year 2000 specific costs. The fiscal year 1998 costs were attributed to
remediation of legacy systems and applications. The cost to complete includes remediation, testing and
verification, but is primarily budgeted to remedy any Year 2000 related situations that we have not yet
anticipated. The estimate of total cost has increased by $0.7 million since our last estimate at March 31, 1999
due to additional support we are providing our financial institution customers in their testing requirements and
our decision to perform a complete revalidation of our testing. We believe that associated costs are adequately
budgeted and provided for in our operating plans.
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Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Cost to

Business Segment 1997 1998 1999 Complete Total
(In thousands)
Electronic Commerce .............. $ 0 $100 $1,360 $ 800 $2,260
Software ........................ - 500 525 100 1,125
Investment Services . .............. - 375 937 239 1,551
Corporate .............. ... ...... = = 270 100 370
Total .......... ... . $ 0 $975 $3,092 $1,239 $5,306

Risks of Our Year 2000 Issues. In order to accurately process transactions, we must rely on technology
supported by our customers and suppliers. Transaction processing relies on transmissions of data from
consumer personal computers, through financial institution and merchant web servers and the Internet, over
third party data and voice communication lines, and through the Federal Funds System. Failure by us, our
customers or our suppliers to adequately address the Year 2000 issues in a timely manner could impede our
ability to process transactions and can have a direct impact on our ability to generate revenue per our
agreements with financial institution, portfolio management, merchant and direct customers. This in turn
could have a material impact on the conduct of our business, the results of our operations and our financial
condition. Accordingly, we plan to address all Year 2000 issues before problems materialize. We believe that
associated costs are adequately budgeted to handle any remaining issues. Should our efforts or the efforts of
our customers and suppliers fail to adequately address relevant Year 2000 issues, the most likely worst case
scenario would be a total loss of revenue.

Our Contingency Plans. We are internally reviewing and testing all mission critical systems and major
components for Year 2000 readiness. Contingency plans are in place to address mission critical customer
related processes such as back-up communications plans for incoming customer payment and portfolio
transactions, paper based payment transaction processing in the event of failure of electronic payment
systems and alternative power supply in the event of prolonged power outages. We will continue to
incorporate additional Year 2000 considerations into our business contingency plans as necessary.

We cannot guarantee that our efforts will prevent all consequences and there may be undetermined
future costs due to business disruption that may be caused by customers, suppliers or unforeseen
circumstances.

Liouipity AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

The following table sets forth a summary of cash flow activity and should be referred to in conjunction
with statements regarding our liquidity and capital resources:

Summary of Cash Flows for
Year ended June 30,

1997 1998 1999
(In thousands)
Cash flow provided by (used in) operating activities ........... $ (8,472) $(11,673) $ 25,571
Cash flow provided by (used in) investing activities ........... 25,553 12,767 (16,217)
Cash flow provided by (used in) financing activities ........... (5,982) 3,355 (33,443)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents ....... $11,099 $ 4,449 $(24,089)

During the quarters ended September 30, 1998 and December 31, 1998, we expended approximately
$31.2 million to repurchase shares of our own stock. In spite of this expenditure, we retained approximately
$23.0 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments as of June 30, 1999. Our June 30, 1999
balance sheet reflects a current ratio of 1.41 and working capital of $24.2 million. Over the next fiscal year, we
expect to generate positive cash flow from our operations. Additionally, we are negotiating a significant lease
line of credit to finance future equipment needs in support of expected growth. We believe that existing cash,
cash equivalents, short-term investments and available financing alternatives will be more than sufficient to



meet our presently anticipated requirements for the foreseeable future. To the extent that additional capital
resources are required, we have access to an untapped $20.0 million line of credit and are in the process of
expanding this credit facility as well.

For the year ended June 30, 1999, we generated $25.6 million of cash flow from operations. Of this
amount, $14.3 million represented net proceeds from trading securities transactions, which GAAP requires us
to reflect in cash flow from operations.

From an investing perspective we used $40.4 million for the purchase of property and software, of which
approximately $14.9 million was for the purchase of land and a building in Dublin, Ohio and another $6.4
million in leasehold improvements to ready the building for occupancy. The remaining $19.1 million was used
for computer equipment and software and leasehold improvements in support of initiatives to grow the
business and improve quality. We received $18.4 million from the net sale of the various software business
divestitures during the fiscal year and the sale of a building in Columbus, Ohio and $14.9 million from the
repayment of a note receivable established in fiscal 1998 related to the purchase of the Dublin, Ohio facility.
We capitalized $8.0 million in software development costs related to new business initiatives in all three of our
business segments. Additionally, we spent approximately $0.2 million in cash in connection with the
acquisition of Mobius Group, purchased $1.9 million in held-to-maturity securities and received $1.0 million in
proceeds from the sale of held-to-maturity securities.

From a financing perspective, we used $31.3 million in the purchase of approximately 4.7 million shares
of treasury stock for an average price of approximately $6.65 per share. We used $3.3 million in cash for
principal payments under capital leases and another $3.6 million to fund an escrow account to release our
obligation for bonds with the Department of Economic Development of the State of Ohio to facilitate the sale
of land and a building in Columbus, Ohio. We received $2.9 million in proceeds from the exercise of options
under the employee stock option plan and $1.9 million from the purchase of shares under the employee stock
purchase plan.

For the year ended June 30, 1998, we used $11.7 million of cash flow in operating activities. During this
year, $24.5 million in net investments in trading securities were reflected as cash used in operations. In
previous periods, all of our investments were classified as available for sale, and, therefore, related investment
activities did not impact operating cash flow. The change to trading securities reflects efforts to maximize
yields within our conservative investment guidelines and not to significantly impact the risk profile of our
portfolio. From an investing perspective, we generated $54.9 million of cash from the sale of various software
businesses, $24 million from sales and maturities of available-for-sale investments, $8.9 million from receipt of
a purchase price adjustment related to our Intuit Services Corporation acquisition and $0.3 from the sales of
other assets. Investing receipts were offset by $27.9 million in investment in property additions, primarily for
computer and operational equipment and facilities related to completion of the Genesis Platform, $20.3 million
in the purchase of investments, $14.9 million of investment in a note receivable in conjunction with the
proposed purchase of a building in Dublin, Ohio, $10.0 million as final payment on the purchase of Intuit
Services Corporation; payment of $1.0 million for the purchase of Advanced Mortgage Technology, Inc., and
$0.7 million in capitalization of software development costs. From a financing perspective, $5.4 million of cash
was provided by stock option exercises under our Stock Option Plans, stock purchases under our Associate
Stock Purchase Plan and our matching contributions under our 401(k) Plan, which was offset by payments of
$1.1 million in satisfaction of an outstanding note payable and $0.9 million in capital lease obligations. As a
result of the above, our current ratio improved from 1.3 at June 30, 1997 to 2.3 at June 30, 1998 and related
working capital increased from $20.0 million at June 30, 1997 to $78.2 million at June 30, 1998.

For the year ended June 30, 1997, we used $8.5 million for operating activities. The sale of businesses
generated proceeds of $29.5 million while $0.6 million was received from the exercise of stock options during
the year. We invested $11.4 million, net of cash acquired, for the purchase of Intuit Services Corporation.
Some stockholders from the Security APL acquisition exercised options to sell 276,469 common shares back
to us at a price of $19.00 per share. We received proceeds of $19.5 million on net maturities and sales of
available-for-sale investments and we invested $9.1 million in property and software additions. Principal
payments on capital leases totaled $1.1 million.
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Inflation

We believe the effects of inflation have not had a significant impact on our results of operations.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In March 1998, the Accounting Standards Executive Committee (“AcSEC”) issued SOP 98-1, “Accounting
for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” which is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 1998. The Statement distinguishes accounting for the costs of computer
software developed or obtained for internal use from guidance under SFAS 86, “Accounting for the Costs of
Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed.” The adoption of SOP 98-1 is not expected to
have a material impact on the Company'’s software capitalization policies or financial statement disclosures.

In June 1998, the FASB issued SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,”
which will require that all derivative financial instruments be recognized as either assets or liabilities in the
balance sheet. SFAS 133 will be effective for the Company'’s first quarter of fiscal 2001. The Company is in the
process of evaluating the effects of this new statement.

Safe Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995

Except for the historical information contained herein, the matters discussed in our annual report include
certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which are intended to be covered by the safe
harbors created thereby. Those statements include, but may not be limited to, all statements regarding our
and management’s intent, belief and expectations, such as statements concerning our future profitability, our
operating and growth strategy, and Year 2000 issues. Investors are cautioned that all forward-looking
statements involve risks and uncertainties including, without limitation, the factors set forth under the caption
“Business — Business Risks” in the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 1999 and other
factors detailed from time to time in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission. One or more
of these factors have affected, and in the future could affect, our businesses and financial results in the future
and could cause actual results to differ materially from plans and projections. Although we believe that the
assumptions underlying the forward-looking statements contained herein are reasonable, any of the
assumptions could be inaccurate. Therefore, there can be no assurance that the forward-looking statements
included in this Annual Report will prove to be accurate. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in the
forward-looking statements included herein, the inclusion of such information should not be regarded as a
representation by us or any other person that our objectives and plans will be achieved. All forward-looking
statements made in this Annual Report are based on information presently available to our management. We
assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
CheckFree Holdings Corporation and Subsidiaries:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of CheckFree Holdings Corporation (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries as of June 30, 1998 and 1999, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended June 30, 1997, 1998, and 1999. These
financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company and its subsidiaries at June 30, 1998 and 1999, and the results of their operations and
their cash flows for the years ended June 30, 1997, 1998, and 1999 in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Deloitte & Touche LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
August 9, 1999
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CHECKFREE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
June 30, 1998 and 1999

1998 1999

(In thousands,
except share data)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents . ...... ... ... . it $ 36,535 $ 12,446
INVESTMENTS .. ot e e e e e e e 24,533 10,266
Accounts receivable, Net .. ... . e e e 32,960 45,660
Assets held forsale . ...... . e e e 15,881 -
Note receivable ... ... . . e e 14,882 -
Prepaid expenses and otherassets ............. ... i, 4,678 7,800
Deferred inCOME taXes . .. ..o it e et et 7,231 6,513
Total CUrreNt @SSelS . .. vt i it e e e e e e e e 136,700 82,685
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, Net . ... ... e et e e e e e 50,920 69,823
OTHER ASSETS:
Capitalized software, net . ........ ... e e 11,387 20,059
Intangible assets, Net . ... ... i e e 30,474 45,875
INVESTMENTS .. ot e e e e e e e e 1,006 1,875
Deferred INCOME 1aXeS . . v vt vt ot et e et e et et e e e e e e 12,889 21,920
Other NONCUITENt @SSetS . . ..ot ittt et e e ettt 6,736 10,624
Total other @ssets . ..o oot i e e e e e e e 62,492 100,253

$ 250,112 $ 252,761

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:

Accounts payable . ....... ... e $ 8,536 $ 9,634
Accrued liabilities . .. ...t e e e e 25,160 26,971
Current portion of long-term obligations . . . .......... ... ... ... . . ... 1,180 1,640
Deferred reVENUE .. .ottt e e e e e e e e e e 19,710 20,195
Income taxes payable .. ...... ... . . e 3,876 -
Total current liabilities . ... i i e e e e 58,462 58,440
ACCRUED RENT AND OTHER . . . . oottt e e e e 1,329 3,636
OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES - Less current portion .............. 6,467 3,882

COMMITMENTS (Note 21)

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
Preferred stock — 15,000,000 authorized shares, $.01 par value;
no amounts issued or outstanding ........ ... e - -
Common stock — 150,000,000 authorized shares, $.01 par value;
issued 56,364,839 and 57,305,659 shares, respectively;

outstanding 56,364,839 and 51,756,278 shares, respectively ............. 564 518
Additional paid-in-capital ......... .. ... .. 492,109 480,385
Less:

Treasury stock - at cost; 963,295 shares, no shares, respectively .......... (4,362) -

Accumulated defiCit . ... v it e (304,457) (294,000)

Total stockholders equity .......... i 183,854 186,903
$ 250,112 $ 252,761

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CHECKFREE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended June 30,
1997 1998 1999
(In thousands, except share data)

REVENUES:
Processing and servicing .......................... $ 94,528 $ 159,255 $ 201,059
Merchant discount .......... ... ... 9,994 - -
Licensefees .......... . i 33,088 28,952 15,975
Maintenance fees . .........c i 22,567 25,848 17,746
Other ... . 16,268 19,809 15,351
Total revenues .. ...ttt 176,445 233,864 250,131
EXPENSES:
Cost of processing, servicing and support ............ 102,721 129,924 146,704
Research and development ........................ 32,869 36,265 21,085
Salesand marketing . .......... .. .. .. . oo 32,670 28,839 32,354
General and administrative ........................ 18,707 20,677 31,466
Depreciation and amortization ...................... 24,919 24,999 24,630
In-process research and development ................ 140,000 719 2,201
Charge for stock warrants ......................... - 32,827 -
Exclusivity amortization . .............. ... ... ....... 5,958 2,963 -
Total eXpenses . . ...ttt e 357,844 277,213 258,440
Net gain on dispositionsof assets . .................. 6,250 36,173 4,576
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS . . ... e (175,149) (7,176) (3,733)
OTHER:
Interest inComMe . ... i e 2,153 3,464 2,799
Interest EXPENSE . .. oottt (834) (632) (618)
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES . . ... . i, (173,830) (4,344) (1,552)
INCOME TAX BENEFIT ... (12,017) (641) (12,009)
NET INCOME (LOSS) ...t $ (161,813) $ (3,703) $ 10,457
BASIC EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Net income (loss) per commonshare ................ $ (3.44) $ (0.07) $ 0.20
Equivalent numberofshares ....................... 46,988,225 55,086,742 52,444,375
DILUTED EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE:
Net income (loss) per common share ................ $ (3.44) $ (0.07) $ 0.18
Equivalent numberofshares ....................... 46,988,225 55,086,742 56,529,165

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CHECKFREE HOLDINGS CORP
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS

Number of
Shares of
Common Stock

BALANCE — JUNE 30, 1996 . . ... ittt et e et e e e e e e e e e 42,274,800
Nt l0SS .« ot i e e e e e e -
Stock OptioNs EXerCiSed . ... ... it e 636,309
Tax benefit associated with exercise of stock options .............. ... .. ... ... ... ... -
Issuance of common stock and stock options pursuant to acquisitions . ................. 12,635,212
Treasury stock acquired ... ... .. .. i e e -

BALANCE — JUNE 30, 1997 . . .ottt e e e e e e e e e e e 55,546,321
Nt [0S . ottt e e e -
Stock options exercised . . ... ... .. e e 708,661
Employee stock purchases ... ....... .. e e 109,857
40T(K) MaAtCh ... e e e -
Warrants iSSUBA . . ..ottt e -
Tax benefit associated with exercise of stock options .. ........ ... ... ... ... ......... -

BALANCE — JUNE 30, 1998 . . . . ittt e et e e e e e e e e e e 56,364,839
NEt INCOME . o e e e e e -
Stock options exercised .. ... ... ... e e e 354,758
Employee stock purchases ... ....... .. i i e e 48,748

40T(K) MatCh ... e e e e -
Treasury stock acquired ... ... ... ... e -
Treasury stock retired . . ... ... e e e (5,549,381)
Issuance of common stock pursuant to acquisition ........... ... . . ... ... . . .. 537,314
Tax benefit associated with exercise of stock options .. ........ ... ... ... ... ......... -
BALANCE — JUNE 30, 1999 . . ..ot et e e e e e e e e e 51,756,278

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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ORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
' OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQuiITY

Common Additional Number of
Stock at Paid-In Shares of
Par Capital Treasury Stock
(In thousands, except share data)
$423 $276,822 (757,536)
6 591 -
- 887 -
126 176,550 -
- - (284,016)
555 454,850 (1,041,552)
8 2,204 -
1 1,672 -
- - 78,257
- 32,827 -
- 656 - =
564 492,109 (963,295)
3 1,605 -
1 968 48,631
- - 74,981
_ - (4,709,698)
(55) (33,610) 5,549,381
5 17,995 -
- 1,318 -
$518 $480,385 -

Treasury
Stock at
Cost

$ (629)

(5,378)
(6,007)
(47)

1,692

(4,362)

1,070
963
(31,336)
33,665
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Accumulated
Deficit

$(138,941)
(161,813)

(300,754)
(3,703)

(304,457)
10,457

$(294,000)

Total
Stockholders’

Equity

$ 137,675
(161,813)
597

887
176,676
(5,378)

148,644

(3,703)
2,165
1,573
1,692
32,827
656

183,854

10,457
1,608
2,039

963
(31,336)

18,000
1,318

$ 186,903



CHECKFREE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLows

Year Ended June 30,

1997 1998 1999
(In thousands)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net income (I0SS) .« v v v v vt e e e e e e e $(161,813) $ (3,703) $ 10,457
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash

provided by (used in) operating activities:

Write off of in-process research and development .......... 140,000 719 2,201

Write off of capitalized software ......................... 3,619 - -
Issuance of warrants . .........c..iiii i - 32,827 -
Exclusivity amortization ............ .. ... ... ... . . ... ... 4,938 2,963 -
Depreciation and amortization ........... ... ... .. ... ... 24,919 24,999 24,630

Deferred income tax provision ..............cciinnnnn. (13,101) (5,499) 854

Net gain on dispositions of assets. . ...................... (6,250) (36,173) (4,576)
Purchases of investments - Trading ...................... - (28,799) (10,416)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of

investments, net—Trading ............ ...y - 4,267 24,683

Change in certain assets and liabilities (net of
acquisitions and dispositions):

Accountsreceivable . .......... .. .. . . (10,952) (5,095) (6,976)
Prepaid expenses andother .......................... (2,976) (1,834) 1,434
Accounts payable . .... ... .. 1,249 1,492 988
Accrued liabilities ... ... . 4,203 (568) (2,194)
Deferred revenue .. .......ciiiiiii it 7,509 239 1,739
INCOME taxX @CCOUNTS . o vt vttt e et e e e e e e e ee e 183 2,492 (17,253)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities . ... (8,472) (11,673) 25,571
INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchase of property and software. ........................ (9,114) (27,939) (40,444)
Proceeds from saleofassets ...........c.cciiiiiiiiinn... 29,488 54,990 18,435
Purchase of note receivable .............. ... .. . ..., - (14,882) -
Proceeds from repayment of note receivable . .. .............. - - 14,882
Proceeds from purchase price adjustment ................... - 8,889 -
Capitalization of software developmentcosts ................ - (731) (8,031)
Purchase of business, net of cash acquired .................. (11,363) (11,000) (190)
Purchases of investments — Held to maturity ................. (3,000) (1,006) (1,875)
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments —

Held to maturity . . ... i e e - - 1,006
Purchases of investments - Available forsale ................ - (19,311) -
Proceeds from maturities and sales of investments —

Availableforsale .......... ... . . e 19,5642 23,757 -

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities . ... 25,553 12,767 (16,217)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repayment of notes payable and other debt extinguishment . . .. (69) (1,144) -
Principal payments under capital lease obligations ............ (1,082) (931) (3,327)
Escrow deposit associated with capital lease obligation ........ - - (3,637)
Proceeds from stock options exercised, including

related tax benefits . ........ .. .. 597 2,165 2,926
Proceeds from employee stock purchaseplan ................ - 1,573 1,931
Proceeds from employee 401(k)plan ....................... - 1,692 -
Purchase of treasury stock ............ .. ... ... ... . ....... (5,378) - (31,336)
Payments on stockholdernotes ............ ... .. ... ..... (50) - -

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities . ... (5,982) 3,356 (33,443)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASHEQUIVALENTS . ... e et 11,099 4,449 (24,089)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:
Beginning of period . . . ... ... .. 20,987 32,086 36,535
Endof period . ... e $ 32,086 $ 36,535 $ 12,446

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CHECKFREE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NoTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
As of and for the Years Ended June 30, 1997, 1998 and 1999

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization — CheckFree Holdings Corporation (the “Company”) is the parent company of CheckFree
Corporation (“CFC"), the principal operating company of the business. CFC was organized in 1981 and is
a leading provider of transaction processing services, software and related products to financial
institutions and businesses and their customers throughout the United States. See Note 19 for a
description of the Company’s business segments. Following a number of acquisitions and divestitures,
CFC reorganized its corporate structure on December 22, 1997. In connection with the reorganization,
holders of common stock (“Common Stock”) of CFC became holders of an identical number of shares of
Common Stock of the Company. The restructuring was effected by a merger conducted pursuant to
Section 251(g) of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which provides for the formation of a holding
company structure without a vote of the stockholders of the Company.

Principles of Consolidation — The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the results of
operations of the Company, its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and CheckFree Management Corporation, of
which the Company is the majority owner. All significant intercompany transactions have been
eliminated.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Processing Agreements — The Company has agreements with transaction processors to provide
origination and settlement services for the Company. Under the agreements, the Company must fund
service fees and returned transactions when presented. These agreements expire at various dates.

Transaction Processing - In connection with the timing of the Company’s financial transaction
processing, the Company is exposed to credit risk in the event of nonperformance by other parties, such
as returns and chargebacks. The Company utilizes credit analysis and other controls to manage its credit
risk exposure. The Company also maintains a reserve for future returns and chargebacks.

Cash and Cash Equivalents — The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments (primarily United
States government agency obligations and commercial paper) purchased with maturities of three months
or less to be cash equivalents. Substantially all cash and cash equivalents are on deposit with six financial
institutions.

Investments — The Company’s investments consist primarily of United States government, government
agency or state obligations. The Company classifies these investments as available-for-sale, trading or
held-to-maturity securities in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 115,
“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities”. Investments classified as available-
for-sale are carried at fair value, with unrealized holding gains and losses reported as a separate
component of stockholders’ equity. Trading securities are carried at market value and unrealized holding
gains and losses are included in income. Held-to-maturity securities are carried at amortized cost.

Property and Equipment — Property and equipment are stated at cost. Property and equipment are
depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives as follows: land improvements,
building and building improvements, 15 to 30 years; computer equipment, software, and furniture, 3to 7
years. Equipment under capital leases are amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of their
estimated useful lives or the terms of the leases. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser
of the estimated useful lives or remaining lease periods.
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Capitalized Software Costs — Software development costs incurred prior to the establishment of
technological feasibility are expensed as incurred. Software development costs incurred after the
technological feasibility of the subject software product has been established are capitalized in accordance
with SFAS 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherwise
Marketed.” Capitalized software development costs are amortized on a product-by-product basis using
either the estimated economic life of the product on a straight-line method over three to five years or the
ratio of current year gross product revenue to current and anticipated future gross product revenue,
whichever is greater. Unamortized software development costs in excess of estimated future net
revenues from a particular product are written down to estimated net realizable value.

Amortization of software costs totaled $7,687,000, $5,198,000 and $2,567,000, for the years ended June 30,
1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.

Intangible Assets — The costs of identified intangible assets are generally amortized on a straight-line basis
over periods from 8 months to 15 years. Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis over 10 to 15 years.
At each balance sheet date, a determination is made by management to ascertain whether the intangible
assets have been impaired based on several criteria, including, but not limited to, sales trends,
undiscounted operating cash flows, and other operating factors.

Capital Stock — The Company is authorized to issue up to 150,000,000 shares of $.01 par value Common
Stock. In addition, the Company is authorized to issue up to 15,000,000 shares of $.01 par value Preferred
Stock in one or more series and to establish such relative voting, dividend, redemption, liquidation,
conversion and other powers, preferences, rights, qualifications, limitations and restrictions as the Board
of Directors may determine without further stockholder approval. No preferred shares have been issued.

Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share — The Company reports Basic and Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per
Share in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 128 “Earnings Per Share”. Basic earnings (loss) per
common share is determined by dividing income (loss) available to common shareholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted per-common-share amounts assume
the issuance of common stock for all potentially dilutive equivalent shares outstanding.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets — In accordance with SFAS 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-
Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of,” the Company periodically assesses the
likelihood of recovering the cost of long-lived assets based on its expectations of future profitability and
undiscounted cash flows of the related business operations. These factors, along with management’s
plans with respect to the operations, are considered in assessing the recoverability of property, equipment
and purchased intangibles. During 1998, in conjunction with the Company’s platform integration efforts
referred to as project Genesis, the Company consolidated three processing centers from Chicago, lllinois,
Austin, Texas, and Columbus, Ohio, into one processing center located in Norcross, Georgia. As a result
of this consolidation and a physical inventory of fixed assets at the related business units, all identified
assets which were determined to have no alternative use or value were written off. Of the total write-off
of $4.0 million, $3.0 million was recorded in the quarter ended September 30, 1997 and the remaining $1.0
million in the quarter ended June 30, 1998.

Comprehensive Income — On July 1, 1998, the Company adopted SFAS 130, “Reporting Comprehensive
Income.” The Statement requires disclosure of total non-shareowner changes in equity and its
components. Total non-shareowner changes in equity includes all changes in equity during a period
except those resulting from investments by and distributions to shareowners. The only component of
other comprehensive income applicable to the Company would be unrealized holding gains or losses on
the Company’s available-for-sale securities. There were no available-for-sale securities held during the
year ended June 30, 1999 and the carrying value of available-for-sale securities held during the years
ended June 30, 1998 and 1997 approximated market value. As a result, there were no reported unrealized
gains or losses on available-for-sale securities during the years ending June 30, 1997, 1998 and 1999.
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Business Segments — On July 1, 1998, the Company adopted SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments of
an Enterprise and Related Information”. The Statement defines how operating segments are determined
and requires disclosure of certain financial and descriptive information about a company’s operating
segments. The adoption of SFAS 131 did not have a material impact on the Company’s financial
statement disclosures.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements — In March 1998, the Accounting Standards Executive Committee
(“AcSEC") issued Statement of Position (“SOP”) 98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software
Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
1998. The Statement distinguishes accounting for the costs of computer software developed or obtained
for internal use from guidance under SFAS 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to Be
Sold, Leased, or Otherwise Marketed.” The adoption of SOP 98-1 is not expected to have a material
impact on the Company’s software capitalization policies or financial statement disclosures.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” which will require that all derivative financial instruments be
recognized as either assets or liabilities in the balance sheet. SFAS 133 will be effective for the Company’s
first quarter of fiscal 2001. The Company is in the process of evaluating the effects of this new statement.

Reclassifications — Certain amounts in the prior years’ financial statements have been reclassified to
conform to the 1999 presentation.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

» Processing and Servicing — Processing and servicing revenues include revenues from transaction
processing, electronic funds transfer and monthly service fees on consumer funds transfer services. The
Company recognizes revenue when the services are performed.

As part of processing certain types of transactions, the Company earns interest from the time money is
collected from its customers until the time payment is made to the applicable merchants. These
revenues, which are generated from trust account balances not included on the Company’s balance
sheet, are included in processing and servicing and totaled $3,228,000, $9,676,000 and $11,846,000, for
the years ended June 30, 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.

* Merchant Discount — Merchant discount revenues are recognized when the services are performed.
Interchange fees incurred in the settlement of merchant credit card transactions are included in
processing and servicing expenses.

» License Fees— On July 1, 1998, the Company adopted SOP 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition”. The
Statement provides guidance for recognizing revenue on software transactions and supersedes SOP 91-
1, “Software Revenue Recognition”. In accordance with the provisions of SOP 97-2, the Company
recognizes revenue from software license agreements when there is persuasive evidence that an
arrangement exists, the fee is fixed and determinable, collectibility is probable and the software has
been shipped, provided that no significant obligation remains under the contract.

* Maintenance Fees — Maintenance fee revenue is recognized ratably over the term of the related
contractual support period, generally 12 months.

» Other — Other revenue consists primarily of consulting and training services. Consulting revenue is
recognized principally on a percentage-of-completion basis and training revenue is recognized upon
delivery of the related service.
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EXPENSE CLASSIFICATION

» Processing, Servicing and Support — Processing, servicing and support costs consist primarily of data
processing costs, customer care and technical support, and third party transaction fees, which consist
primarily of ACH transaction fees.

» Research and Development — Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and
consulting fees paid to software engineers and business development personnel, and are reported net
of applicable capitalized development costs.

» Sales and Marketing — Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and commissions of
sales employees, public relations and advertising costs, customer acquisition fees and royalties paid to
distribution partners.

* General and Administrative — General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries for
administrative, executive, finance, and human resource employees.

» Depreciation and Amortization — Depreciation and amortization on capitalized assets is recorded on a
straight-line basis over the appropriate useful lives.

* In-process Research and Development — In-process research and development consists of charges
resulting from acquisitions whereby the purchase price allocated to in-process software development
was based on the determination that in-process research and development had no alternative future use
after taking into consideration the potential for usage of the software in different products, resale of the
software, or other internal use.

» Charge for Stock Warrants — Charge for stock warrants consists of noncash charges for vested warrants
issued to third parties under agreements whereby issued warrants vest upon achievement of certain
strategic objectives.

» Exclusivity Amortization — Exclusivity amortization consists of the amortization of an intangible asset
established in conjunction with a marketing agreement with a strategic partner whereby the Company
retains certain exclusive rights to bill payment processing through the partner’s financial management
software over a specific period of time.

. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

On March 8, 1999, the Company acquired Mobius Group, Inc. (“Mobius Group”) for a total of $19.1 million,
consisting of 537,314 shares of common stock valued at $18 million, $0.2 million of acquisition costs, and
$0.9 million of assumed debt. The acquisition was treated as a purchase for accounting purposes, and,
accordingly, the assets and liabilities were recorded based on their fair values at the date of the
acquisition. The values ascribed to acquired intangible assets and their respective useful lives are as
follows:

Intangible Useful
Asset Life
(In thousands)
Goodwill ...... ... ... $10,392 15
Customerbase ............ ... 4,429 15
Tradenames .. .......ccoiiiiinnnn.. 3,709 10
Existing product technology .......... 1,864 5
Workforce . ........ ... 940 5

Amortization of intangible assets is on a straight line basis over the assets’ respective useful life. Mobius
Group's operations are included in the consolidated statements of operations from the date of acquisition.
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On the acquisition date, Mobius Group had four products under development that had not demonstrated
technological or commercial feasibility. These products included M-Plan Retirement & Estate Planning
Modules, M-Plan Cash Flow, Tax and Education Planning Modules, a new version of M-Search and a new
version of M-Vest. The in-process technology has no alternative use in the event that the proposed
products do not prove to be feasible. These development efforts fall within the definition of In-Process
Research and Development (“IPR&D") contained in SFAS 2.

M-Plan Integrated Financial Planning System — M-Plan will be a Windows based integrated financial
planning system for retirement and estate planning, cash flow, tax and educational planning and capital
needs analysis. It will produce over 100 reports for retirement, new investments, estate planning, and
other analysis, as well as provide historical returns and standard deviations for various asset allocations
integrated with extensive modeling to provide detailed and usable analysis. M-Plan’s wizards will give
users the ability to produce and to analyze alternative scenarios quickly. M-Plan will consist of five main
disciplines: Retirement and Estate Planning, Cash Flow, Tax and Education modules. M-Plan Retirement
and Estate Planning are the core disciplines; a user must own one of these two in order to add future
disciplines.

* M-Plan Retirement & Estate Planning Modules. Significant development is required to convert trust and
gift tax calculations from formulas to C++ programming language. Additionally, work must be
performed to create necessary database fields to capture a variety of user scenario analyses. These
modules will be used by sophisticated financial planners that will be expected to produce reports for a
variety of individuals with specific circumstances and therefore, calculations must produce results under
all possible scenarios. In addition, there are over 100 reports to be programmed and customized into
usable and readable format and Mobius Group does not currently have the ability to insert data into all
of the reports. Finally, developed technology is not in a modular format and, as M-Plan will be sold in
modules, additional work must be performed to divide code into modules.

» Cash Flow, Tax and Education Planning Modules. Reports for the Cash Flow Planning module have not
yet been developed. Mobius Group had not yet determined how it would integrate tax tables into its tax
calculations, as only tax rate calculations are currently available in the Tax Planning module and
significant work remains to complete reports and database fields. There has been no significant data
gathering for the Education Planning module and therefore the code had not yet been written for the
calculations, the database fields and the reports.

The technology utilized in the M-Plan is based entirely on new technology. Although the Company has
been selling another comprehensive financial planning program, it operated on a DOS platform and the
new programs are being developed in C++ for Windows.

M-Search Revision — M-Search is Mobius Group’s Investment Manager Database System, containing
comprehensive qualitative and quantitative data on over 1,300 investment management firms and 5,000
composites. In-process development is designed to allow the user to customize reports based on selection
criteria, which the current version does not offer. This effort requires a rewrite of a significant portion of
the source code. Based on software engineers’ estimates of the percentage of reuse of developed
technology within particular components of the product, 25% of its value is attributable to core
technology.

M-Vest Revision — M-Vest is Mobius Group’s 16-bit asset allocation system that is under development to
port the entire program over to 32-bit. This development effort requires significant changes to the user
interface, a revision of most of the reports and changes to core algorithms. Management estimates that it
would have taken six man months to recreate the code from the beginning and the entire porting would
take 12 man months and as a result, 30% of its value is attributable to core technology.
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The following table presents information regarding the status of various in-process research and
development projects acquired in connection with the Mobius Group acquisition:

Estimated Stage Expected Expected Cost
of Completion Release to Complete Valuation
(In thousands) (In thousands)
M-Plan:
Retirement and Estate Planning Module ........ 92% May 1999 $ 49 $ 693
Cash Flow, Tax and Education Module ......... 64% December 1999 208 183
M-Search Revision . ....... ... ... ... ... ... 56% September 1999 176 1,218
M-Vest Revision .......... ... . . i 20% September 1999 220 107
Total . ..o $653 $2,201

The method used to allocate the purchase consideration to IPR&D was the modified income approach.
Under the income approach, fair value reflects the present value of the projected free cash flows that will
be generated by the IPR&D projects and that is attributable to the acquired technology, if successfully
completed. The modified income approach takes the income approach, modified to include the following
factors:

» Analysis of the stage of completion of each project;

» Exclusion of value related to research and development yet-to-be completed as part of the on-going
IPR&D projects; and

* The contribution of existing products/technologies.

The projected revenues used in the income approach are based upon the incremental revenues associated
with a portion of the project related to Mobius Group’s technology likely to be generated upon completion
of the project and the beginning of commercial sales, as estimated by the Company’s management. The
projections assume that the product will be successful and the products’ development and
commercialization are as set forth by management. The discount rate used in this analysis is an after-tax
rate of 20%

Certain risks and uncertainties are associated with the completion of the development with a reasonable
projected period of time. These risks include:

* The Retirement and Estate Planning module has been sent to a development partner for testing and
identification of errors. Due to the nature of the product and the necessity that all calculations work
correctly in order for the product to be commercially viable and to function as designed, this testing is
considered a significant part of the development effort.

* The cash flow module reports have not been developed. As the reports are the only output seen by the
end user, this represents a major development effort.

» The Company has not yet determined how it will integrate tax tables into its tax calculation in the tax
module. Significant work remains to complete reports and database fields.

» For the education module, significant data gathering had not occurred and, therefore, the code had not
yet been written for the calculations, the database fields, and the reports.

« Significant risks still exist related to the completion and reintegration of the M-Plan Modules (Retirement
and Estate Planning and Cash Flow, Tax, and Education Modules). For example, a user who borrows for
education purposes from his retirement fund should see his retirement decrease (in the Retirement
Module) and education investment increase (in the Education Module).

» The M-Plan Modules are based entirely on new technology, since they are written in C++ for a windows
platform and utilize no existing technology.
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» M-Vest is Mobius Group’s current asset allocation system. There is an on-going development program
to migrate this program to run on 32-bit hardware. This effort requires significant changes to interfaces,
to reports and some core algorithms.

» Each of the acquired IPR&D projects have not demonstrated their technological or commercial feasibility
as of the valuation date. Significant risks exist because of uncertainties the Company may face in the
form of time and costs necessary to produce technologically feasible products.

« If the proposed products fail to become viable, there is uncertainty that the Company would be able to
realize any value from the sale of the technology to another party.

On October 3, 1997, the Company acquired certain assets of Advanced Mortgage Technologies, Inc.
(“AMTI") for cash of $1.0 million. The acquisition was treated as a purchase for accounting purposes, and
accordingly, the assets and liabilities were recorded based on their fair values at the date of the
acquisition. Of the total purchase price, $0.2 million was allocated to goodwill and $0.1 million to other
identifiable intangible assets. Additionally, $0.7 million was allocated to in-process research and
development, which was charged to operations at the time of the acquisition.

On January 27, 1997, the Company acquired Intuit Services Corporation (“ISC") for a total of $199.0
million, including 12.6 million shares of common stock valued at $177.2 million, the present value of cash
payments due to Intuit, Inc. under the Services and License Agreement of $19.6 million and acquisition
costs of $2.2 million. The acquisition was treated as a purchase for accounting purposes, and, accordingly,
the assets and liabilities were recorded based on their fair values at the date of the acquisition. Of the total
purchase price, $28.9 million was allocated to goodwill. In addition, $140.0 million was allocated to in-
process research and development, which was charged to operations at the time of the acquisition. $7.9
million was allocated to an exclusivity agreement with Intuit, Inc. and was amortized on a straight-line
basis over the contractual life of eight months. A further $3.5 million was allocated to other identifiable
intangible assets and $20.3 million allocated to tangible assets. ISC's operations are included in the
consolidated results of operations from the date of the acquisition.

Consistent with the Company’s policy for internally developed software, the Company determined the
amounts to be allocated to in-process research and development based on whether technological
feasibility had been achieved and whether there was any alternative future use for the technology. As of
the date of the acquisitions, the Company concluded that the in-process research and development had
no alternative future use after taking into consideration the potential for usage of the software in different
products, resale of the software and internal usage.

The unaudited pro forma results of operations of the Company for the years ended June 30, 1998 and
1999, assuming the acquisitions occurred at the beginning of each period are as follows (in thousands,
except per share data):

Year Ended June 30,

1998 1999

Total reVENUES . . ..ottt $239,701 $255,427
Netincome (I0SS) .. ..ottt e $ (3,417) $ 13,462
Basic earnings per share:

Net income (loss) per common share ................ $ (0.06) $ 025

Equivalent numberofshares ....................... 55,624 52,815
Diluted earnings per share:

Net income (loss) per commonshare ................ $ (0.06) $ 0.24

Equivalent numberofshares ....................... 55,624 56,900

This information is presented to facilitate meaningful comparisons to on-going operations and to other
companies. The unaudited pro forma amounts above do not include a charge for in-process research and

F-29



CHECKFREE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NoTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (CONTINUED)

development of $2.2 million arising from the Mobius acquisition in 1999. Previous operations of AMTI
were insignificant and therefore, require no pro forma considerations. The unaudited pro forma
information is not necessarily indicative of the actual results of operations had the transactions occurred
at the beginning of the periods presented, nor should it be used to project the Company’s results of
operations for any future periods.

On October 1, 1998 the Company sold certain software and other assets related to its imaging line of
business for $0.8 million consisting of a note receivable of $0.5 million and future services of $0.3 million.
Loss on the sale amounted to $2.9 million.

On September 11, 1998 the Company sold certain software and other assets related to its mortgage line
of business for $19.1 million, net of a working capital adjustment. As part of the sales agreement, the
Company retained responsibility for certain customer obligations and agreed to subcontract with the
acquiring company to perform consulting services at retail hourly rates for these retained obligations.
The Company received cash of $15 million, net of $4.0 million of prepaid subcontract services due the
acquiring company. Net gain on the sale amounted to $6.4 million.

On July 6, 1998 the Company divested itself of certain software related to its leasing line of business. The
Company paid the acquiring party $639,000 in cash and agreed to five additional quarterly installments of
$60,000 each. Additionally, in conjunction with this transaction, the Company agreed to pay $3.0 million
to a customer to relieve the Company and acquiring party of further obligations relating to a product
related consulting agreement. The loss of $4.7 million was recorded in the fourth quarter of the year
ended June 30, 1998.

On April 20, 1998, the Company sold certain software and related assets of its wire transfer and cash
management businesses for cash of $18.25 million resulting in a net gain on the sale of $14.7 million.

On March 24, 1998, the Company sold certain software and related assets of its item processing business
for cash of $3.4 million resulting in a net gain on the sale of $3.2 million.

On August 29, 1997, the Company sold certain software and related assets of its recovery management
business for cash of $33.5 million resulting in a net gain on the sale of $28.2 million.

On March 26, 1997, the Company sold certain assets and certain contracts and licensed certain proprietary
software for processing automatic accounts receivable through credit cards or the Automated Clearing
House resulting in a net gain on the sale of $6.3 million.

The gain or loss on sale of assets described above is included in Net Gain on Dispositions of Assets in the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations.

INVESTMENTS
Investments consist of the following (in thousands):
June 30,
1998 1999

Held-to-Maturity-State Obligations . .. .............cciiiun... $ 1,006 $ -
Held-to-Maturity-U.S. Government Agency Obligations .......... - 1,875
Trading ... e e e 24,533 10,266

Total ..o e $25,539 $12,141

Held-to-Maturity — The difference between the amortized cost and the aggregate fair value of held-to-
maturity investments at June 30, 1998 and 1999 was insignificant. The held-to-maturity investment at
June 30, 1998 was sold to provide funding for treasury stock purchases. The realized gain on the sale of
this investment was insignificant.

Trading — Trading investments are classified as current assets and are recorded at fair value.
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Contractual maturities of debt securities classified as held-to-maturity at June 30, 1999 are as follows:

Due after one year through fiveyears ........................ $1,875

Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because debt issuers may have the right to call
or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consist of the following (in thousands):

June 30,
1998 1999
Trade accountsreceivable . ............. ... ... ... ... ... .. ... $22,739 $31,366
Unbilled trade accounts receivable .......................... 10,654 16,334
Otherreceivables . ........ ... . i i 3,037 2,390
Total .. 36,430 50,090
Less allowance for doubtful accounts . ....................... 3,470 4,430
Accounts receivable, net ....................... $32,960 $45,660

ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

In April 1998, the Company announced plans to divest several of its software businesses through the sale
of software and related assets. Assets of the Company’s mortgage, leasing, imaging, and safe box
accounting businesses totaling $15.9 million at June 30, 1998, were comprised of trade, unbilled, and
other accounts receivable (net of an allowance for doubtful accounts), property and equipment dedicated
to the businesses, capitalized software, and other purchased intangible assets. Sales of all businesses,
with the exception of safe box accounting, were completed during the year ended June 30, 1999. The
Company decided not to divest the safe box accounting business and its assets are therefore included with
the Company’s other operating assets at June 30, 1999.

NOTE RECEIVABLE

In May 1998, in anticipation of a tax-free exchange of property, the Company loaned $14.9 million to a third
party to purchase a building on its behalf. Interest of 8% was earned monthly commencing in June 1998.
In June 1999, the Company completed its tax-free exchange and the note was paid in full. At June 30,
1998, the estimated fair value of the note receivable approximated the carrying value based on currently
available instruments with similar interests rates and remaining maturities.

INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,”
which requires an asset and liability approach to financial accounting and reporting for income taxes. In
accordance with SFAS 109, deferred income tax assets and liabilities are computed annually for
differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities that will result in taxable
or deductible amounts in the future based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which
the differences are expected to affect taxable income. Income tax expense (benefit) is the tax payable or
refundable for the period plus or minus the change during the period in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
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The Company’s income tax benefit consists of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,

1997 1998 1999
Current:
Federal ... ... $ - $3,795 $(10,555)
Stateand local ......... .. i 1,084 1,063 (2,308)
Totalcurrent .. .. .o i e e 1,084 4,858 (12,863)
Deferred federalandstate ................ ..., (13,101) (5,499) 854
Total income tax benefit .......... ... ... . . .. .... $(12,017) $ (641) $(12,009)

Income tax expense differs from the amounts computed by applying the U.S. federal statutory income tax
rate of 35 percent to income before income taxes as a result of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,

1997 1998 1999
Computed “expected” tax benefit ....................... $(60,844) $(1,520) $ (543)
Nondeductible in-process research and
development of acquired businesses .................. 49,000 252 770
Nondeductible intangible amortization .. .................. 839 1,189 1,137
State and local taxes, net of federal income tax benefits ..... (553) 21 (1,741)
Loss from medical benefits subsidiary .................... - - (10,665)
Other, Net .. ... e (459) (583) (967)
Total income tax benefit . ..., $(12,017) $ (641) $(12,009)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities at June 30, 1998 and 1999 are as follows (in thousands):

June 30,
1998 1999
Deferred tax assets:
Federal and state net operating loss carryforwards .................. $ 1,155 $12,739
Federal and state tax credit carryforwards ......................... - 2,145
Intangible assets .. ... ... e e 1,870 -
Allowance for bad debtsandreturns ............ ... ... ... ....... 1,699 1,996
Accrued compensation and related items ............ ... ... .00, 1,731 2,028
STOCK Warrants . . .ot e e 12,964 12,964
Reserve accruals . ... ... .. . i e 3,212 3,410
Total deferred tax @ssets .. .......coiiii it 22,631 35,282
Deferred tax liabilities:
Capitalized software . ......... . e (1,926) (2,246)
Property and equipment ... ... ... e (19) (2,327)
Deferred revVeNUE . . ..o oottt e e - (128)
Intangible @assets . ........ .. e e e - (1,354)
Prepaid eXpenses ... .. ... e (566) (794)
Total deferred tax liabilities . .........c.c .. (2,511) (6,849)
Net deferred tax asset . ........coiiiiiiit ittt $ 20,120 $ 28,433

F-32



10.

CHECKFREE HOLDINGS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NoTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (CONTINUED)

At June 30, 1999, the Company has approximately $3,072,000 of state and $9,667,000 of federal net
operating loss carryforwards available, expiring in 2009 to 2013 and 2009 to 2019, respectively.
Additionally, at June 30, 1999, the Company has approximately $306,000 of state and $1,839,000 of federal
tax credit carryforwards available, expiring in 2008 to 2009 and 2009 to 2019, respectively. During the year
ended June 30, 1999, the Company established a subsidiary to administer the Company’s employee
medical benefits program. The Company recognized a one-time combined federal and state tax benefit
of $12.2 million arising from the creation of this subsidiary.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

The components of property and equipment are as follows (in thousands):

June 30,
1998 1999
Land and land improvements . ............ii it $ 3,146 $ 4,341
Building and building improvements ............ ... . i 16,692 31,226
Computer equipment and software licenses .......................... 55,526 72,138
Furniture and equipment .. ........ .. . . . i e 9,002 11,404
Total ..o e 84,366 119,109
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . ..................... 33,446 49,286
Property and equipment, net .............coiiiiii. $50,920 $69,823
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The components of intangible assets are as follows (in thousands):
June 30,
1998 1999
WOk OrCE oot e e $ 5,179 $ 6,171
TradenNamMES . .o ittt e e e e e 815 4,568
CUStOMEr base . ... 1,231 5,758
GoodWill ..o 28,927 39,318
Total ... e 36,152 55,815
Less accumulated amortization . ........ci it e 5,678 9,940
Intangible assets, net .......... ... $30,474 $45,875
ACCRUED LIABILITIES
The components of accrued liabilities are as follows (in thousands):
June 30,
1998 1999
Salaries and related COStS . ... ..ottt e $ 9,374 $10,307
Liabilities associated with contract and otherlosses ................... 5,655 -
Processing fees . . ... e e 2,335 908
Reserve for returns and chargebacks ............ .. ... ... ... . . . ... 1,944 1,664
Other . ... e 5,852 14,092
Total .o e e $25,160 $26,971
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The liabilities associated with contract and other losses at June 30, 1998 is comprised of $4.7 million
related to an estimated loss from the sale of the leasing business that occurred on July 7, 1998 (see Note
2, “Acquisitions and Dispositions”) and $1.0 million for accrued contract losses and related costs which
resulted from the decision to exit the Web Investor business.

LINE OF CREDIT

In May, 1997 the Company obtained a working capital line-of-credit, which enables the Company to
borrow up to $20 million, based on the collateral of eligible accounts receivable. The line expires in
October 1999, and contains certain restrictive covenants, including defined quarterly operating results,
minimum tangible net worth requirements, and the prohibition of dividend payments. No amounts were
outstanding under the line at June 30, 1998 and 1999.

OBLIGATIONS UNDER CAPITAL LEASES

During 1993, the Company entered into a 20-year lease with the Department of Development of the State
of Ohio for land and an office building located in Columbus, Ohio. The Company had the option to
purchase the land and building for $1 at the termination of the lease and thus, the Company recorded the
transaction as a capital lease. In June, 1999, the Company completed a tax-free exchange of property
involving the land and building under this capital lease. In order to exercise its purchase option and
complete the transaction, the Company paid $2.5 million of principal obligations under the lease, and
placed an additional $3.6 million in escrow. The Company and the State of Ohio entered into an escrow
agreement whereby the funds deposited will be used to make scheduled principal and interest payments
through September 1, 2000, and retire the remaining principal obligation at that date. The net gain
resulting from the sale of the property amounted to $1.1 million and is included in the Net Gain on
Dispositions of Assets in the Company’s Consolidated Statement of Operations. Amounts deposited with
the escrow trustee and the related obligations are included in current and noncurrent assets and
liabilities, based on the respective principal repayment dates, in the Company’s June 30, 1999
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

The Company also leases certain computer equipment, furniture and telephone equipment under capital
leases. The Company is required to pay certain taxes, insurance and other expenses related to the leased
property.

The following is a summary of property under capital leases included in the accompanying balance sheets
(in thousands):

June 30,
1998 1999
Land and land improvements . ......... ... $ 3,146 $ -
Building and building improvements ............ .. ... . . o 4,526 -
Computer equipment and software licenses .......................... 2,371 3,654
Total .o 10,043 3,654
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization . ..................... 2,017 2,266
Property and equipment, net ............uiiiiiinnnn. $ 8,026 $ 1,388
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Future minimum lease payments required by the capital leases and the net future minimum lease
payments are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year

Ending June 30,

2000 ... e $944

200 L e 3,253

2002 . 390

2003 e 373

2004 .. 62

Thereafter . ... e -
Total future minimum lease payments ........... 5,022

Less amount representing interest . ................... 182
Net future minimum lease payments ............ $4,840

OPERATING LEASES

The Company leases certain office space and equipment under operating leases. Certain leases contain
renewal options and generally provide that the Company shall pay for insurance, taxes and maintenance.
In addition, certain leases include rent escalations throughout the terms of the leases. Total expense under
all operating lease agreements for the years ended June 30, 1997, 1998 and 1999, was $5,882,000,
$5,800,000 and $8,492,000, respectively.

Minimum future rental payments under these leases are as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year

Ending June 30,

2000 ... $11,464

2001 L. e 10,922

2002 ... 8,966

2003 .. 5,650

2004 ... 3,837

Thereafter . ... oo e e e e 16,271
Net future minimum lease payments ............ $57,110

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Retirement Plan — The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) retirement plan covering substantially
all of its employees. Under the plan eligible employees may contribute a portion of their salary until
retirement and the Company, at its discretion, may match a portion of the employee’s contribution. Total
expense under the plan amounted to $1,862,000, $859,000 and $1,218,000, for the years ended June 30,
1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively.

Deferred Compensation Plan — In January, 1999, the Company established a deferred compensation plan
(the “DCP") covering highly-compensated employees as defined by the DCP. Under the plan, eligible
employees may contribute a portion of their salary on a pre-tax basis. The DCP is a non-qualified plan,
therefore the associated liabilities are included in the Company’s June 30, 1999 Consolidated Balance
Sheet. In addition, the Company has established a rabbi trust to finance obligations under the DCP with
corporate-owned life insurance policies on participants. The cash surrender value of such policies is also
included in the Company’s June 30, 1999 Consolidated Balance Sheet. Total expense under the DCP for
the period ended June 30, 1999 amounted to $40,000.

Group Medical Plans — The Company has a group medical self-insurance plan covering certain of its
employees. The Company has employed an administrator to manage this plan. Under terms of this plan,
both the Company and eligible employees are required to make contributions to this plan. The
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administrator reviews all claims filed and authorizes the payment of benefits. The Company has stop-loss
insurance coverage on all individual claims exceeding $100,000. In addition, the Company offers medical
insurance coverage under managed care health plans. Total expense for medical insurance coverage
amounted to $3,458,000, $3,752,000, and $4,430,000, for the years ended June 30, 1997, 1998 and 1999,
respectively. Under the self-insurance plan, the Company expenses amounts as claims are incurred and
recognizes a liability for incurred but not reported claims. At June 30, 1998 and 1999, the Company
accrued $308,000 and $315,000 respectively, as a liability for costs incurred but not paid under this plan.

In December, 1998, a subsidiary, CheckFree Management Corporation, was created to administer the
Company’s employee medical benefits program. The Company owns a controlling interest in the
subsidiary, and therefore, the accompanying consolidated financial statements include the subsidiary’s
results of operations.

15. COMMON STOCK

During 1995, the company adopted the 1995 Stock Option Plan (the “1995 Plan). The 1995 Plan replaces
in its entirety the 1993 Stock Option Plan (the “1993 Plan”). The options granted under the 1995 and 1993
Plans may be either incentive stock options or non-statutory stock options. The terms of the options
granted under the 1995 and 1993 Plans are at the sole discretion of a committee of members of the
Company’s Board of Directors, not to exceed ten years. Generally, options vest at either 33% or 20% per
year from the dated of grant. The 1995 Plan originally provided that the Company may grant options for
not more than 5,000,000 shares of common stock to certain key employees, officers and directors. In
November of 1998, the 1995 Plan was amended by a vote of the Company’s shareholders to extend the
maximum option grants to not more than 8,000,000 shares. Options granted under the 1995 and 1993
Plans are exercisable according to the terms of each option, however, in the event of a change in control
or merger as defined, the options shall become immediately exercisable. At June 30, 1999, 2,920,684
additional shares are available for grant in the aggregate for all Plans.

Previously, the Company had adopted the 1983 Incentive Stock Option Plan and the 1983 Non-Statutory
Stock Option Plan (collectively, the “1983 Plans”), which provided that the Board of Directors may grant
options for shares of common stock to certain employees and directors. Under the terms of the 1983
Plans, options are exercisable over a period up to ten years from the grant date. In the event the
Company is sold, options outstanding under the 1983 Plans must be repurchased at a price calculated as
if the options had been fully exercised.

All options granted under the 1983 Plans, the 1993 Plan and the 1995 Plan were granted at exercise prices
not less than the fair market value of the underlying common stock at the date of grant. In the event that
shares purchased through the exercise of incentive stock options are sold within one year of exercise, the
Company is entitled to a tax deduction. The tax benefit of the deduction is not reflected in the
consolidated statements of operations but is reflected as an increase in additional paid-in capital.

The following table summarizes stock option activity from July 1, 1996 to June 30, 1999:

Year Ended
June 30, 1997 June 30, 1998 June 30, 1999
Number of Weighted Number of Weighted Number of Weighted
Shares Average Shares Average Shares Average
Exercise Price Exercise Price Exercise Price
Outstanding — Beginning of period ........ 2,908,218 $ 458 4.441,461 $ 959 4,365,562 $15.23
Granted ...t 2,282,056 14.32 1,377,334 25.60 1,575,057 36.40
Exercised .......... ..o il (636,309) 1.01 (708,661) 3.17 (354,758) 4.56
Cancelled . ...t (112,504) 14.88 (744,572) 12.63 (389,261) 16.12
Outstanding — End of period ............. 4,441,461 $ 959 4,365,562 $15.23 5,196,600 $18.69
Options exercisable at end of period .. .... 1,218,341 $1.17 1,352,516 $ 6.81 1,394,269 $9.00
Weighted average per share fair value

of options granted during the year ...... $ 6.68 $10.77 $17.65
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The following table summarizes information about options outstanding at June 30, 1999:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted Average Weighted Average

Range of Exercise Price Remaining Exercise Exercise
Number Contractual Life Price Number Price
$08-%$1000................ 764,769 4.4 $ 1.17 672,427 $ 1.03
$10.01-%$20.00................ 3,014,916 8.4 13.30 623,955 15.03
$20.01-$30.00................ 266,815 8.9 25.565 97,887 25.25
$30.01-$40.00 ................ 196,300 9.7 34.85 - -
$40.01-$50.00 ................ 953,800 9.8 44.56 - -
5,196,600 $18.69 1,394,269 $ 9.00

The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option—pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in the years
ended June 30, 1997, 1998 and 1999, respectively: dividend yield of 0% in all periods; expected volatility
of 47%, 48% and 49%; risk-free interest rates of 6.41%, 5.21%, and 5.87%; and expected lives of 3-5 years.

Under the 1997 Associate Stock Purchase Plan, effective for the six-month period beginning January 1,
1997, the Company is authorized to issue up to 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock to its full-time
employees, nearly all of whom are eligible to participate. Under the terms of the Plan, employees can
choose, every six months, to have up to 15% of their salary withheld to purchase the Company’s Common
Stock. The purchase price of the stock is 85% of the lower of its beginning-of-period or end-of-period
market price. Approximately 39% of eligible employees participated in the Plan in the second half of the
year ended June 30, 1997, approximately 32% in the first half of fiscal 1998, approximately 49% in the
second half of fiscal 1998, approximately 30% in the first half of fiscal 1999 and approximately 31% in the
second half of fiscal 1999. Under the Plan, 53,013 shares were issued in July of 1997, 56,844 in January of
1998, 48,631 in July of 1998, 48,748 in January of 1999 and 46,819 in July of 1999 from employees’ salary
withholdings from the respective previous six-month period. Following is a summary of the weighted
average fair market value of this look-back option estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes
option pricing model, and the related assumptions used:

Six Month Period Ended
June 30, December 31, June 30, December 31, June 30,

1997 1997 1993 1998 1999
Fair value of options $3.93 $14.10 $9.68 $7.18 $5.51
Assumptions:
Risk-free interestrate ......... 5.1% 5.0% 5.0% 4.9% 4.9%
Expected life ................ 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months 3 months
Volatility . ................... 47.0% 48.0% 48.0% 49.0% 49.0%
Dividend yield ............... 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The Company applies APB Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees” and related
Interpretations in accounting for its stock option plans and employee stock purchase plan. Had
compensation cost for the Company’s stock-based compensation plans been determined based on the fair
value at the grant dates for awards under those plans in accordance with the provisions of SFAS 123,
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“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” the Company’s net income (loss) and net income (loss) per
share would have been as follows (in thousands, except per share data):

Year ended June 30,

1997 1998 1999

Pro forma netincome (10SS) . . ...t $(164,089) $(9,521) $1,032
Pro forma net income (loss) per share;

Basicand Diluted . ...ttt e $ (3.49) $ (0.17) $ 0.02

The pro forma amounts are not representative of the effects on reported net income (loss) for future years.

In September 1998, the Company offered an option repricing program to its employees. Under the terms
of the offer, employees had one week to decide whether to return any outstanding option grant in its
entirety and replace it on a share-for-share basis with an option grant with an exercise price equal to the
fair market value of the Company’s Common Stock at the new grant date. Only those exchanges received
within one day of the designated grant date were accepted and any vested options in such returned grants
were forfeited. The lives of returned historical grants typically ranged from three to five years with straight
line vesting beginning one year from the original grant date. All newly issued option grants had a life of
five years and vesting occurs at 40% beginning two years from the new grant date and 20% for each year
thereafter. A total of 1,418,403 options were returned and had the offer taken place at June 30, 1998, the
options exercisable would have decreased by 95,614.

As described below, the Company has issued certain stock warrants to third parties and has accounted for
the issuance of such warrants in accordance with the provisions of EITF 96-18, “Accounting for Equity
Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling,
Goods or Services.”

In January 1998 the Company entered into a 10-year processing agreement with a strategic partner. Under
the terms of the agreement, the partner acquired 10-year warrants exercisable at $20 15/16 for 10 million
shares of the Company’s Common Stock. Three million warrants vested upon the execution of a related
processing outsourcing agreement on March 9, 1998 which resulted in the Company recording a non-cash
charge of $32.4 million. The charge was based on a Black-Scholes option pricing model valuation of
$10.80 per vested share using the following assumptions: risk-free rate of 5.7%, expected life of 10 years,
and volatility rate of 56.4%. The remaining seven million warrants are to vest upon achievement of specific
performance targets set forth in the agreement. Any shares acquired by the strategic partner under the
terms of this agreement are subject to certain transfer and other restrictions. In March 1997 the Company
entered into a consulting agreement with a third party. Under the terms of the agreement the consultant
acquired 5-year options exercisable at $13.00 for up to 50,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock. In
June of 1998, upon the execution of a processing agreement with a key customer, 25,000 of the options
vested, which resulted in the Company recording a non-cash charge of $418,000. The charge was based
on a Black-Scholes option pricing model valuation of $16.73 per vested share using the following
assumptions: risk-free rate of 5.6%, expected life of 4 years, and volatility rate of 56.4%. The remaining
25,000 options are to vest upon achievement of specific performance targets by key customers set forth
in the agreement. Any shares acquired by the consultant under the terms of the agreement are subject to
certain transfer restrictions. In accordance with the terms of a joint marketing agreement, a strategic
partner has warrants to purchase up to 650,000 shares of the Company’'s Common Stock should the
partner attain certain customer acquisition targets.

In January 1997 the Board of Directors approved an amendment to the Company’s 401(k) plan which
authorized up to 1,000,000 shares of Common Stock for the Company’s matching contribution. The
Company issued 78,257 shares in September 1997 and 74,981 shares in August 1998 out of treasury to
fund its 401(k) match that had accrued during the years ended June 30, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

At June 30, 1996 certain stockholders had an option to sell up to 280,565 shares of common stock to the
company at $19.00 per share, which expired on September 30, 1996. Of the eligible shares, 276,469 were
sold to the Company and were recorded as treasury stock.
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PREFERRED STOCK

In January 1997, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a dividend distribution of Preferred Share
Purchase Rights to protect its stockholders in the event of an unsolicited attempt to acquire the Company.
On February 14, 1997, the Rights were issued to the Company’s stockholders of record, with an expiration
date of 10 years. Until a person or group acquires 15% or more of the Company’s Common Stock, the
Rights will automatically trade with the shares of Common Stock. Only when a person or group has
acquired 15% or more of the Company’s Common Stock, will the Rights become exercisable and separate
certificates issued. Prior to the acquisition by a person or group of beneficial ownership of 15% or more
of the Company’s Common Stock, the Rights are redeemable for $.001 per Right at the option of the Board
of Directors.

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE

18.

The following table reconciles the differences in income and shares outstanding between basic and
dilutive for the periods indicated (in thousands, except per share data):

Year Ended June 30, 1997 Year Ended June 30, 1998 Year Ended June 30, 1999
Loss Shares Per-Share Loss Shares Per-Share  Income Shares Per-Share
(Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount (Numerator) (Denominator) Amount
BasicEPS ................. $(161,813) 46,988 $(3.44) $(3,703) 55,087 $(0.07) $10,457 52,444 $0.20
Effect of dilutive securities — T
Stock options and warrants . . - - - - - 4,085
Diluted EPS .. ......ene. ... $(161,813) 46,988 $(344)  '§(3703) 55,087 $(007)  $10457 56,529 $0.18

Anti-dilution provisions of SFAS 128 require consistency between diluted per-common-share amounts
and basic per-common-share amounts in loss periods. The number of anti-dilutive equivalent shares
excluded from the per share calculations are 1,218,000 and 1,725,000 for the years ended June 30, 1997
and 1998, respectively.

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Year Ended June 30,
(In thousands)

1997 1998 1999
Interest paid .. ..ot e $ 585 $ 632 $ 618
Income taxes paid .......... ... ... $ 1,147 $1,434 $ 1,688
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and
financing activities:
Capital lease additions and purchase of other
long-term assets . .......c.ouuiiininni.. $ 1,914 $ 650 $ 3,379
Stock funding of 401(k) match . ........................ $ - $ - $ 963
Purchase price of business acquisitions ................. $200,997 $1,000 $19,100
Less: Issuance of common stock and stock
options pursuant to acquisitions .. ................... 177,188 - 18,000
Liabilitiesassumed . . ...... ... . i e 1,619 145 887
Net present value of future paymentdue .............. 9,610 - -
Cash acquired in acquisitions . ...................... 1,217 - 23
Netcashpaid ........ ... $ 11,363 $ 855 $ 190
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19. BUSINESS SEGMENTS

The Company operates in three business segments — Electronic Commerce, Software, and Investment
Services. These reportable segments are strategic business units that offer different products and
services. A further description of each business segment along with the Corporate services area follows:

» Electronic Commerce — Electronic commerce includes electronic home banking, electronic billing,
electronic bill payment and business payments. These services are primarily directed to financial
institutions and businesses and their customers.

» Software — Software services includes end-to-end software products for ACH processing, account
reconciliation, wire transfer, mortgage loan origination and servicing, lease accounting and debt
recovery. These products and services are primarily directed to financial institutions and large
corporations.

» Investment Services — Investment services includes investment portfolio management services and
investment trading and reporting services. These products and services are primarily directed to
institutional investment managers.

» Corporate — Corporate services include human resources, legal, accounting and various other of the
Company’s unallocated overhead charges.

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1 “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies”. The Company evaluates performance based on revenues and operating
income (loss) of the respective segments. No single customer accounted for 10% or more of consolidated
revenues for the years ended June 30, 1997, 1998 and 1999. Foreign sales for the periods presented are
insignificant. There are no intersegment sales.

The following sets forth certain financial information attributable to the Company’s business segments for
the years ended June 30, 1997, 1998 and 1999 (in thousands):

Year Ended June 30,

1997 1998 1999
Revenues:
Electronic COmMmerce . . ......c.ouiiiiinneennn... $ 85926  $137,972 $169,443
Software . ... e 68,113 66,143 41,384
Investment SEervices . .......uiiiii i 22,406 29,749 39,304
Total ... e $ 176,445  $233,864  $250,131
Operating income (loss):
Electronic Commerce- including charge for acquired
in-process research and development of $140,000
N 1997 ... $(160,195) $(39,423) $ (5,490)
Software- including charge for acquired in-process
research and development of $719in 1998 ............. 4,324 48,854 18,083
Investment Services— including charge for acquired
in-process research and development of $2,201 in 1999 .. 2,171 5,040 5,892
CorpPOrate .o v e e e (21,449) (21,647) (22,218)
Total oo e $(175,149) $ (7,176) $ (3,733)
Identifiable assets:
Electronic COmmerce . ......cou ittt eae e $ 59,265 $ 70,192 $ 80,223
Software . ... e 61,701 39,346 34,194
Investment Services . .......uiiiiii it 23,187 21,187 49,098
(00 o Yo -1 (=S 79,683 119,387 89,246
Total ... .. $ 223,836  $250,112  $252,761
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Year Ended June 30,

1997 1998 1999
Capital expenditures:
Electronic Commerce . ...t i it $ 3,182 $19,5632 $ 9,258
SOftWare . . oo e e 1,171 2,197 1,189
Investment Services . . ...ttt e 1,973 895 4,764
Corporate . ... e 2,788 5,315 25,233
Total ... e $ 9,114 $27,939 $40,444
Depreciation and amortization:
Electronic Commerce . ...ttt et $ 2,094 $ 9,964 $14,214
SoftWare . . o e 10,501 6,051 2,069
Investment Services . . ...ttt e e 4,379 4,558 5,336
Corporate . ... e 7,945 4,426 3,011
Total ... $24,919 $24,999 $24,630

. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following quarterly financial information for the years ended June 30, 1998 and 1999 includes all
adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of quarterly results of operations:
(In thousands except per share data):

Quarter Ended

September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30

FISCAL 1998
Total revenue ............cuiiiiiiiaa... $ 52,087 $ 56,515 $ 61,750 $63,512
Income (loss) from operations ............. 17,187 (2,771) (29,223) 7,731
Netincome (loss) ........... ... ... ... 9,771 (1,692) (17,540) 5,758
Basic earnings per share:

Net income (loss) per common share ..... $ 0.17 $ (0.03) $ (0.32) $ 0.10

Equivalent number of shares ............ 56,703 55,028 55,281 55,376
Diluted earnings per share:

Net income (loss) per common share ..... $ 0.17 $ (0.03) $ (0.32) $ 0.10

Equivalent number of shares ............ 56,920 55,028 55,281 55,735
FISCAL 1999
Total revenue ............uiiiinnennn. $ 56,814 $ 59,605 $ 62,960 $ 70,752
Income (loss) from operations . ............ (3,462) (1,408) 349 788
Netincome (loss) . ........... .. .. ... .... (1,468) 11,375 (308) 858
Basic earnings per share:

Net income (loss) per common share ..... $ (0.03) $ 022 $ (0.01) $ 0.02

Equivalent number of shares ............ 55,510 51,326 51,218 51,695
Diluted earnings per share:

Net income (loss) per common share . ... .. $ (0.03) $ 0.22 $ (0.01) $ 0.02

Equivalent number of shares ............ 55,510 52,553 51,218 56,839

The sum of the quarterly income (loss) per share does not equal the year-to-date income (loss) per share
for the respective fiscal periods, due to changes in the number of shares outstanding at each quarter-end.
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Significant Fourth Quarter Transactions — During the week of April 26, 1999, the Company experienced a
system error that led users of its electronic billing and payment services to experience intermittent
problems accessing and using the system. As a result of this situation, the Company incurred charges of
$2,681,000, of which $800,000 is reflected as a reduction in processing and servicing revenue and
$1,881,000 as sales and marketing expense in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations for
the year ended June 30, 1999.

During the fourth quarter of 1999, the Company incurred $890,000 of costs associated with a recalled
secondary offering of stock. The costs are reflected in general and administrative expense in the
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year ended June 30, 1999.

In the fourth quarter of 1998 the Company recorded adjustments to reduce its 401(k) match accrual by $2.4
million and its management incentive bonus accrual by $1.7 million. Both incentive amounts had been
provided for ratably over the year in anticipation of achievement of financial results that would have
resulted in distribution of the amounts accrued in accordance with related plan provisions.

COMMITMENTS

In June 1999, the Company entered into a five-year agreement for software to be used in conjunction with
its electronic commerce business. The software is to be licensed in incremental units over the term of the
agreement to coincide with the growth of the Company’s business. Total commitments under the
agreement amount to $10 million over the five-year term.

F-42



